The effect of high glucose on APP metabolism and $A\beta$ production

by

Yi Yang

B.Sc., Jilin University, 2009

A THESIS SUBMITTED IN PARTIAL FULFILLMENT OF THE REQUIREMENTS FOR THE DEGREE OF

MASTER OF SCIENCE

in

THE FACULTY OF GRADUATE STUDIES

(Neuroscience)

THE UNIVERSITY OF BRITISH COLUMBIA

(Vancouver)

April 2013

© Yi Yang, 2013

Abstract

Alzheimer's disease (AD) is the most common neurodegenerative disorder characterized by a progressive decline in memory and cognitive functions. It is the leading cause of dementia. Abnormal accumulation and deposition of amyloid- β protein (A β) to form plaques is a pathological hallmark of AD. A β , the major component of plaques, derives from sequential cleavage of amyloid- β precursor protein (APP) by β -secretase and γ -secretase. Dysregulation of APP processing and A β generation is believed to play an essential role in the pathogenesis of AD.

Diabetes is a complex metabolic disorder characterized by chronic hyperglycemia. Epidemiological studies revealed an elevated risk of developing AD in people with diabetes. However, the underlying mechanisms remain unknown. To identify the role of diabetes in AD pathogenesis, the effect of high glucose on APP metabolism and A β generation was investigated using cultured human neuroblastoma cells. In this study, we clearly showed that high glucose treatment significantly increased APP protein level and A β generation. Moreover, the increase of APP level was not resulted from the enhancement *APP* gene transcription but due to the inhibition of APP protein degradation. This work indicated that hyperglycemia could promote AD development by increasing APP expression and facilitating APP processing and A β production, suggesting glycemic control might be beneficial for AD treatment.

Preface

Aβ40 ELISA was performed together with Ms. Shuting Zhang using samples I had prepared.

Dr. Yili Wu helped confirm the role of high glucose on APP transcription by RT-PCR as shown in Figure 3.2.

The *APP* promoter plasmid, pAPP-Luc, which contains 2.94kb of human *APP* promoter region upstream of the luciferase reporter gene was constructed and functionally tested previously in Dr. Weihong Song's lab (Li et al., 2006).

Table of Contents

Abstract	ii
Preface	iii
Table of Contents	iv
List of Tables	vi
List of Figures	vii
List of Abbreviations	viii
Acknowledgements	X
Chapter 1 General introduction	1
1.1 An overview of Alzheimer's disease	1
1.1.1 Pathological features of Alzheimer's disease	2
1.1.2 Two types of Alzheimer's disease	4
1.2 Amyloid hypothesis of Alzheimer's disease	4
1.3 Amyloid-β precursor protein	6
1.4 APP processing	9
1.4.1 α-secretase	
1.4.2 β-secretase	11
1.4.3 γ-secretase complex	13
1.5 Amyloid-β protein	15
1.6 Association between Alzheimer's disease and diabetes mellitus	17
1.6.1 An overview of diabetes mellitus	17
1.6.2 Epidemiological and experimental evidence of the association between Alzheimer's d diabetes	lisease and
1.6.3 Common pathologies in Alzheimer's disease and diabetes	21
1.7 Role of glucose in cognition	23
1.7.1 Glucose uptake in human brain	23
1.7.2 Physiological level of extracellular glucose in human brain	25
1.7.3 Effect of hyperglycemia on cognition	26
1.8 Hypothesis and specific aims	27

1.8.1 Hypothesis	
1.8.2 Specific aims	27
Chapter 2 High glucose treatment increases APP protein level and Aβ production	28
2.1 Materials and methods	
2.1.1 Cell culture and high glucose treatment	
2.1.2 Western blot	
2.1.3 Human Aβ40 ELISA	
2.2 Results	
2.2.1 High glucose treatment increases APP protein level	
2.2.2 High glucose treatment enhances Aβ production	
2.3 Conclusion and discussion	
Chapter 3 High glucose treatment does not affect APP transcription	34
3.1 Materials and methods	
3.1.1 Cell culture and high glucose treatment	
3.1.2 Luciferase assay	
3.1.3 Semi-quantitative reverse transcription PCR	
3.2 Results	35
3.2.1 High glucose treatment does not affect APP gene promoter activity	35
3.2.2 High glucose treatment does not affect APP transcription	
3.3 Conclusion and discussion	
Chapter 4 High glucose treatment inhibits APP degradation	39
4.1 Materials and methods	
4.1.1 Cell culture and drug treatment	
4.1.2 Western blot	
4.2 Results	40
4.2.1 High glucose treatment inhibits APP degradation	
4.3 Conclusion and discussion	
Chapter 5 General discussion and future directions	43
5.1 General discussion	
5.2 Future directions	
References	49

List of Tables

Table 1.1 Increased risk of Alzheimer's disease in patients with diabetes mellitus......20

List of Figures

Figure 1.1 APP processing pathways	10
Figure 2.1 High glucose treatment increases full-length APP protein level	31
Figure 2.2 High glucose treatment increases Aβ40 production	32
Figure 3.1 High glucose treatment does not affect <i>APP</i> gene promoter activity	36
Figure 3.2 High glucose treatment does not affect <i>APP</i> transcription	37
Figure 4.1 High glucose treatment inhibits APP protein degradation	41

List of Abbreviations

Aβ Amyloid-β protein **AD** Alzheimer's disease ADAM A disintegrin and metalloprotease **ADDL** Aβ-derived diffusible ligand AGEs Advanced glycation end products **AICD** APP intracellular domain **ANOVA** Analysis of variance Aph-1 Anterior pharynx defective-1 APL-1 APP-related protein APLP1 Amyloid precursor-like protein 1 APLP2 Amyloid precursor-like protein 2 **APP** Amyloid precursor protein **APPL** Amyloid precursor protein-like **BACE1** β -site APP cleaving enzyme 1 **BBB** Blood-brain barrier **CHX** Cycloheximide **DM** Diabetes mellitus **DMEM** Dulbecco's modified eagle medium ELISA enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay **FBS** Fetal bovine serum FTDP-17 Frontotemporal dementia and parkinsonism linked to chromosome 17 **GDM** Gestational diabetes mellitus **GLUT** Glucose transporter HEK293 Human embryonic kidney 293 cell HbA1c Hemoglobin A1c

hIAPP Human islet amyloid polypeptide **IFG** Impaired fasting glucose **kDa** Kilodalton KPI Kunitz serine protease inhibitor **LTP** Long term potentiation **mM** Millimolar **NFT** Neurofibrillary tangles NICD Notch intracellular domain NINCDS-ADRDA National Institute of Neurological and Communicative Diseases and Stroke and the Alzheimer's Disease and Related Disorders Association **OGTT** Oral glucose tolerance test **PBS** Phosphate-buffered saline **PCR** Polymerase chain reaction **Pen-2** Presenilin enhancer-2 **PS1** Presenilin 1 **PS2** Presenilin 2 **PVDF-FL** Immobilon-FL® polyvindylidine fluoride **RAGEs** Receptor for advanced glycation end products **SH-SY5Y** Human neuroblastoma $sAPP_{\alpha}$ Secreted APP_{α} fragment $sAPP_{\beta}$ Secreted APP_{β} fragment **TGF-***α* Transforming growth factor-*α* **TNF-***α* Tumor necrosis factor-*α* **20E2** HEK293 cells stably expressing Swedish mutant APP₆₉₅

Acknowledgements

I would like to thank my supervisor Dr. Weihong Song for giving me this valuable opportunity to purse graduate study in his laboratory. I'm truly grateful for his guidance, supervision and great support throughout my graduate study. I benefit a lot from his suggestions both academically and on life as a graduate student. I would also like to thank my supervisory committee members, Dr. William Jia, Dr. Shernaz Bamji and Dr. Yutian Wang for all their support, suggestions and comments.

I sincerely appreciate the wisdom and help that all the current and past lab members have given to me. I want to especially thank Dr. Yili Wu and Shuting Zhang who kindly helped me carry out some experiments, and Dr. Philip Ly and Dr. Fang Cai who gave me valuable technical training. I also want to thank Dr. Zhe Wang for his helpful suggestions, as well as Xi Liu and Fiona Zhang for their kindly assistance. I'm also grateful for the friendship and joy my colleagues have given to me: Xiaojie Zhang, Mingming Zhang, Juelu Wang, Rebecca Ko, Qian Xu, Jing Zhang, Xiaoling Duan and Bruno Heuculano. Many thanks to Dr. Yili Wu for taking time previewing and commenting this thesis.

Finally, I would like to give my sincerest thanks to my parents and friends. It was their encouragement, spur and love that supported me to get this far.

Chapter 1 General introduction

1.1 An overview of Alzheimer's disease

Alzheimer's disease (AD) is an irreversible neurodegenerative disorder characterized by a progressive decline in memory and cognitive functions. As the leading cause of dementia, AD accounts for two thirds of all cases of senior dementia. At early stage, the clinical symptoms of AD could manifest as personality change and altered behavior including paranoia, delusions, and loss of social appropriateness. It also features deterioration of memory, orientation, reasoning and judgment. At later stage, motor skills and language function are also impaired and the disorder culminates in the death of the individual. After initial diagnosis, AD patients live about 8 years on average with some cases that could last for as long as 20 years.

AD is named after the Germany physician Alois Alzheimer who first described the clinical and pathological features of the disease at the Meeting of the Psychiatrists of South West Germany in 1906 (Alzheimer, 1907). The prevalence of Alzheimer's disease has skyrocketed in the last decades with 36 million people worldwide estimated to be afflicted by the disease and it costs the world \$604 billion in 2010 alone (Wimo and Prince, 2010). Aging is the principal risk factor for AD. In an European population, the prevalence of AD increases from 0.3% for individuals at ages 60 to 69 to 10.8% for those aged 80 to 89 (Rocca et al., 1991). Higher prevalence is reported in a US community population with 3% for those aged 65 to74, 18.7% for those aged 75

to 84, and 47.2% for those aged over 85 (Evans et al., 1989). With the prolonged life expectancy, the prevalence of AD is estimated to exceed 100 million by 2050 (Wimo and Prince, 2010). In spite of great efforts in trying to understand the disease, unfortunately, there is still no effective therapy or prevention strategy for AD. The currently available drugs for AD could only, at best, provide symptomatic benefit rather than cure for the disease. Therefore, a better understanding of the pathogenesis of the disorder is urgently needed to develop effective treatments.

1.1.1 Pathological features of Alzheimer's disease

AD is characterized by three main neuropathological changes in the brain: formation of neurofibrillary tangles (NFTs) within neurons, extracellular deposition of amyloid plaques and significant neuronal loss. The structure of the NFTs is first revealed under the electron microscopy by Kidd in 1963 as paired helical filament around the nucleus, compressing the cytoplasm against the cell membrane (Kidd, 1963). The major component of NFTs is hyperphosphorylated microtubule-associated protein tau (Goedert et al., 1988; Grundke-Iqbal et al., 1986; Iqbal et al., 1989; Kosik et al., 1986; Wood et al., 1986). However, the NFTs formation is not a unique pathology of AD as it's also present in patients with frontotemporal dementia and parkinsonism linked to chromosome 17 (FTDP-17) which is caused by missense mutations in tau (Hutton et al., 1988).

Neuritic plaques, the unique neuropathological feature of AD, are present in large numbers in the AD brain parenchyma (Glenner, 1983). First described in details by Terry in 1964 using the

electron microscopy, the mature neuritic plaques are composed of a star-shaped extracellular amyloid plaque core and surrounding degenerating axons and dendrites (Terry et al., 1964). The amyloid plaque core is comprised of 5-10nm β -pleated sheet filaments (Miyakawa et al., 1986) that stain with congo red (Mann et al., 1985). The major constituent, amyloid- β protein (A β), derives from sequential cleavage of amyloid precursor protein (APP) by β -secretase and γ -secretase complex.

AD is also characterized by substantial neuronal loss in the CA1 region of the hippocampus and entorhinal cortex along with medial temporal lobe volume loss (Gomez-Isla et al., 1996; Price et al., 2001; Rodrigue and Raz, 2004; West et al., 1994). By analyzing 34 AD brains and 17 age-matched nondemented controls, Gomez-Isla *et al.* found that the average total number of superior temporal sulcus neurons was reduced by 53% in AD group compared to control group (Gomez-Isla et al., 1997). Notably, among all the pathological features of AD, neocortical cerebral atrophy has good correlation with clinical symptoms of dementia (Savva et al., 2009). AD was once deemed to be featured with selective degeneration of cholinergic neurons (Whitehouse et al., 1982) which fueled the development of therapies based on cholinesterase inhibition. However, the drugs are only marginally effective in ameliorating the symptoms in some patients. The selectivity of neuronal damage is probably overstated as impairment of catecholamine (Adolfsson et al., 1979) and glutamatergic innervations are also demonstrated in AD brain (Hardy et al., 1987).

1.1.2 Two types of Alzheimer's disease

AD can be divided into two subtypes according to age of onset: early-onset AD with a disease onset in early 40s or late 50s and late-onset AD that develops after 65 years old. The clinical severity of dementia of early-onset and late-onset AD are similar (Lehtovirta et al., 1996). Early-onset AD accounts for less than 5% of all AD cases (Reitz et al., 2011) and can be caused by autosomal dominant gene mutations in APP on chromosome 21(Goate et al., 1991), presentiins 1 on chromosome 14 (Sherrington et al., 1995) or presentiins 2 on chromosome 1 (Levy-Lahad et al., 1995; Rogaev et al., 1995). These mutations typically result in premature development of cerebral Aβ deposits (Borchelt et al., 1996; Cai et al., 1993; Citron et al., 1992; Citron et al., 1997; Duff et al., 1996; Scheuner et al., 1996; Suzuki et al., 1994) In addition, APP gene duplication (Rovelet-Lecrux et al., 2006) and trisomy of Chromosome 21 (Mann, 1988a, b) can also cause early-onset AD. The late-onset AD, on the other hand, does not show an obvious genetic inheritance and probably arises from an interplay between environmental and genetic factors. Many risk factors for sporadic AD have been revealed such as aging, stroke, and diabetes (Ballard et al., 2011; Reitz et al., 2011). APOEE4 was identified as the strongest genetic risk factor for late-onset AD (Bertram and Tanzi, 2008; Corder et al., 1993) with other susceptible genes being identified by genome-wide association studies (Harold et al., 2009; Hollingworth et al., 2011; Lambert et al., 2009).

1.2 Amyloid hypothesis of Alzheimer's disease

Although the familial occurrences of AD have been reported as early as in 1930s (Essen-Moeller,

1946; Schottky, 1932; Van Bogaert, 1940), it was until 1991 that a specific mutation in APP gene was first identified to cause AD (Goate et al., 1991). Later, mutations in presentins 1 (Sherrington et al., 1995) and *presenilins 2* (Levy-Lahad et al., 1995; Rogaev et al., 1995) were also discovered to cause autosomal dominant AD. Moreover, APP duplication (Rovelet-Lecrux et al., 2006) and trisomy of Chromosome 21 (Mann, 1988a, b) can also cause early-onset AD whereas partial trisomy 21 excluding APP region does not (Prasher et al., 1998). The notion that specific gene mutations or overexpression typically promote A β production or propensity of A β to aggregate (Borchelt et al., 1996; Cai et al., 1993; Citron et al., 1992; Citron et al., 1997; Duff et al., 1996; Scheuner et al., 1996; Suzuki et al., 1994) led to the articulation of amyloid hypothesis that posits $A\beta$ deposition as the central and initiating event in the disease process (Hardy and Allsop, 1991; Hardy and Selkoe, 2002; Hardy and Higgins, 1992; Selkoe, 1991). In support of the amyloid hypothesis, APOE ε 4, the strongest genetic risk factor for late-onset AD (Corder et al., 1993) has been found to be the most potent factor in promoting A β deposition (Holtzman et al., 2000) and least effective in clearing A β comparing with other APOE alleles (Castellano et al., 2011).

The original amyloid hypothesis has limitations. For example, the amyloid load does not correlate well with clinical symptoms (Giannakopoulos et al., 2003). Indeed, with advanced techniques to detect $A\beta$ burden *in vivo*, amyloid plaques are frequently found to be present in people without apparent cognitive impairment (Aizenstein et al., 2008; Perrin et al., 2009; Pike et al., 2007). Moreover, while tau pathology can cause frontotemporal dementia, no amyloid

plaque-only dementia has been reported. These discrepancies are addressed by a revised amyloid hypothesis which takes into account the smaller, soluble oligomeric A β aggregates in the pathological process of AD (Karran et al., 2011).

1.3 Amyloid-β precursor protein

The purification and subsequent determination of amino acid sequence of A β (Glenner and Wong, 1984a, b; Masters et al., 1985) led to the identification of amyloid-β precursor protein (APP) gene and its localization on chromosome 21 (Goldgaber et al., 1987; Kang et al., 1987; Robakis et al., 1987; Tanzi et al., 1987). APP is a type I integral membrane protein, encoded by APP gene on chromosome 21q21.2-3. The APP gene has 19 exons spanning more than 170kb. Exon 7 encodes a domain of 57 amino acids homologous to the Kunitz serine protease inhibitor (KPI) in the ectodomain, whereas exon 8 encodes a MRC OX-2 domain of 19 amino acids. The corresponding AB region spans portions of the ectodomain and transmembrane domain of APP and is encoded by exon 16 and 17. There are three major isoforms of APP that are derived by alternative splicing of exon 7 and 8: the 695-amino acid form (APP₆₉₅) which contains neither KPI nor MRC OX-2 domain, the 751-amino acid form (APP751) which has only KPI domain, and the 770-amino acid form (APP₇₇₀) that contains both domains (Kang et al., 1987; Kitaguchi et al., 1988; Ponte et al., 1988; Tanzi et al., 1988). The A β domain is conserved in all three isoforms. In the neurons of the brain, APP₆₉₅ is predominant while APP₇₅₁ and APP₇₇₀ are more ubiquitously expressed in most tissues such as brain, kidney, lung, and muscle (Neve et al., 1988; Tanzi et al., 1988; Zimmermann et al., 1988).

APP belongs to a multigene family which also includes amyloid precursor-like protein 1 (APLP1), amyloid precursor-like protein 2 (APLP2) in mammals (De Strooper and Annaert, 2000), amyloid precursor protein-like (APPL) in *Drosophila* (Martin-Morris and White, 1990) and APP-related protein (APL-1) in the *Caenorhabditis elegans* (Daigle and Li, 1993). Although all these proteins share similar structure and are processed in a similar manner to APP, only APP generates an amyloidogenic fragment since $A\beta$ domain is absent in other members of the superfamily.

The high conservancy of APP in evolution suggests its functional significance. Although many inferred functions have been ascribed to APP, the exact physiological function of APP remains elusive. A plethora of studies indicate that APP has an important role in brain development. In cultured cells, APP was demonstrated to be involved in cell proliferation (LeBlanc et al., 1992) and growth (Majocha et al., 1994; Saitoh et al., 1989) , cell motility (Sabo et al., 2001), neuronal adhesion (Soba et al., 2005), neurite outgrowth (Allinquant et al., 1995; Kibbey et al., 1993; Milward et al., 1992; Qiu et al., 1995), synaptogenesis (Ashley et al., 2005), and cell survival (Perez et al., 1997). These observations are extended by *in vivo* experiments. For example, *In utero* RNA interference targeting full-length APP leads to abnormalities in migration of neuronal precursor cells in rodent embryonic cortex (Young-Pearse et al., 2007). On the other hand, overexpression of wild-type APP in mice increased the size of cortical neurons (Oh et al., 2009). Although APP knock-out mice are viable and fertile displaying only subtle abnormalities (Zheng et al., 1995), double deficiency in APP and its nearest homolog APLP2 leads to early

postnatal lethality along with defective synapses and neurotransmitter release (Heber et al., 2000; Wang et al., 2005; Yang et al., 2005) and mice with triple knock-out of APP, APLP1 and APLP2 die shortly after birth and exhibit high incidence of cortical dysplasias and cranial abnormalities (Herms et al., 2004).These observations suggest potential functional redundancies among the APP family and also highlight its essential role in regulating synaptic formation and function as well as neuron migration during brain development. In adult animals, APP expression is enhanced after traumatic brain injury, indicating APP might be involved in brain repair (Itoh et al., 2009; Leyssen et al., 2005; Murakami et al., 1998; Van den Heuvel et al., 1999). In fact, APP has been suggested to function as a cell surface receptor that can bind to F-spondin which is a secreted signaling glycoprotein implicated in neuronal development and repair (Ho and Sudhof, 2004).

APP is extensively post-translationally modified including N-glycosylation, O-glycosylation, tyrosine sulfation and phosphorylation (Turner et al., 2003; Weidemann et al., 1989) and is detected in various subcellular locations including endoplasmic reticulum, Golgi apparatus, and plasma membrane (Caporaso et al., 1994; Schubert et al., 1991; Shigematsu et al., 1992; Tomimoto et al., 1995). After being synthesized, APP is transported to the plasma membrane through the constitutive secretory pathway and undergoes fast anterograde axonal transport (Koo et al., 1990). Some cell surface APP is internalized and recycled by endosomes. Proteolysis of APP occurs at multiple sites of trafficking routes such as in the secretory pathway, on the plasma membrane, and in the endocytotic compartments (Suzuki et al., 2006). APP undergoes rapid

turnover in cells with an approximate half life of 20-30 minutes (Weidemann et al., 1989).

1.4 APP processing

The essential role of $A\beta$ in AD pathogenesis highlighted the importance of understanding APP processing. Generally, there are two distinct APP proteolytic pathways (Fig 1.1). Under normal conditions, majority of APP protein are cleaved by α -secretase between Lys-16 and Leu-17 within the A β domain, generating a secreted N-terminal fragment (sAPP $_{\alpha}$) and a membrane-bound carboxy-terminal fragment C83 (Esch et al., 1990; Sisodia et al., 1990). The C83 fragment can be further cleaved by γ -secretase, releasing p3 fragment and APP intracellular domain (AICD). Since α -secretase cleavage precludes the A β generation, this pathway is called non-amyloidogenic pathway. In the amyloidogenic pathway, APP is first cleaved by β -secretase, generating the ectodomain sAPP $_{\beta}$ and a 99-amino-acid fragment of APP carboxy-terminal called C99. C99 is subsequently cleaved by γ -secretase in the transmembrane domain liberating A β and AICD. β -secretase can also cleave APP within the A β region and generate a C89 fragment, mediating non-amyloidogenic processing (Lee et al., 2003; Li et al., 2006; Liu et al., 2006; Vassar et al., 1999).

The physiological functions of APP metabolites are still elusive. Although AICD has been reported to be involved in transcription activation of a series of target genes (Cao and Sudhof, 2001; Slomnicki and Lesniak, 2008), its physiological function remains controversial (Hebert et al., 2006). sAPP_{α} has been suggested to be neuroprotective (Bandyopadhyay et al., 2007) and

proposed to mediate the principal functions of the APP holoprotein as the mice that exclusively express sAPP_{α} did not exhibit prominent deficits observed in APP knock-out mice (Ring et al., 2007). Recently, a derivative from sAPP_{β} is found to bind to the death receptor DR6 and triggers axon pruning and neuronal death (Nikolaev et al., 2009).



Figure 1.1 APP processing pathways

Under physiological conditions, majority of APP protein are cleaved by α -secretase within the A β domain, generating C83 fragment and precludes A β generation. In the amyloidogenic pathway, APP is cleaved by BACE1, generating C99 fragment which is further cleaved by γ -secretase to produce A β .

1.4.1 α-secretase

Under normal condition, the major APP proteolytic process occurs within the A β region, thus precludes the generation of A β (Esch et al., 1990; Sisodia et al., 1990). Although the exact identity of α -secretase still needs further investigation, several members of the "A disintegrin and metalloprotease" (ADAM) family such as ADAM9, ADAM10 and ADAM17 (also called TNF- α converting enzyme) have been implicated to act as α -secretases (Asai et al., 2003; Buxbaum et

al., 1998; Koike et al., 1999; Lammich et al., 1999). Some studies suggest that the ADAMs can substitute for each other with regard to α -secretase cleavage (Hartmann et al., 2002; Le Gall et al., 2009).

In addition to APP cleavage, the ADAMs harbor a broad role in cell signaling by releasing the ectodomains of many membrane-anchored proteins. For example, ADAM17 is involved in shedding of transforming growth factor- α (TGF- α) and tumor necrosis factor- α (TNF- α) (Peschon et al., 1998). ADAM10 is crucial in regulating cell-cell adhesion and β -catenin signaling (Maretzky et al., 2005; Reiss et al., 2005).

Enhancing α -secretase cleavage of APP for AD treatment has been proposed (Bandyopadhyay et al., 2007). Overexpression of ADAM10 in transgenic AD mice reduced amyloid plaques and ameliorated the memory deficit (Postina et al., 2004). In another study, intracerebral injection of acitretin which was demonstrated to stimulate ADAM10 expression also reduced A β production in APP/PS transgenic mice (Tippmann et al., 2009). However, given the broad signaling pathways that ADAMs regulate, further studies are needed to investigate the safety of this therapeutic strategy.

1.4.2 β-secretase

In 1999, several groups using a variety of techniques identified BACE1 as the β -secretase *in vivo* (Hussain et al., 1999; Sinha et al., 1999; Vassar et al., 1999; Yan et al., 1999). BACE1 cleaves

APP at two sites of Aβ domain, Asp+1 and Glu+11, generating C99 and C89 fragment respectively (Li et al., 2006). BACE1 is a type I transmembrane aspartyl protease of 501 amino acids and encoded by *BACE1* gene on Chromosome 11. BACE1 is widely expressed with the highest expression in pancreas and brain (Ehehalt et al., 2002; Yan et al., 1999). The expression level of BACE1 is relatively low (Li et al., 2006; Zhou and Song, 2006) and is under strict regulation (Sun et al., 2012). A number of posttranslational modifications are required for BACE1 maturation such as removal of propeptide (Benjannet et al., 2001; Bennett et al., 2000; Capell et al., 2000; Creemers et al., 2001; Shi et al., 2001), glycosylation (Capell et al., 2000; Charlwood et al., 2001; Haniu et al., 2000; Huse et al., 2003), palmitoylation (Benjannet et al., 2001), and phosphorylation (Capell et al., 2000; Haniu et al., 2000; Walter et al., 2001). BACE1 can be degraded via ubiquitin-proteasome pathway and lysosomal pathway (Koh et al., 2005; Qing et al., 2004).

BACE1 cleavage of APP is essential for A β generation as knockout of BACE1 abolished A β generation (Cai et al., 2001; Luo et al., 2001; Roberds et al., 2001). Genetic deletion of *BACE1* also rescued memory deficit in transgenic AD mouse model (Ohno et al., 2004). In addition, 50% reduction in BACE1 activity resulted in a remarkable reduction in A β plaques and synaptic deficits (McConlogue et al., 2007). All these studies suggested BACE1 as an excellent therapeutic target. Although no major physiological abnormalities were observed in *BACE1* knockout mice in early studies, subtle abnormalities have been recently reported in BACE1-null mice such as alteration in synaptic plasticity (Laird et al., 2005), reduced sodium channel

Na(v)1.1 levels (Kim et al., 2011), hypomyelination (Hu et al., 2006; Willem et al., 2006), axon targeting defects (Rajapaksha et al., 2011), hyperactive behavior (Dominguez et al., 2005), spontaneous seizures (Hu et al., 2010) and schizophrenia-like features (Savonenko et al., 2008), implying that BACE1 has many other biological functions in maintaining health. Moreover, a number of BACE1's substrates other than APP have been identified such as APP homolog proteins APLP1 and APLP2 (Eggert et al., 2004; Li and Sudhof, 2004; Pastorino et al., 2004), low-density lipoprotein receptor-related protein (von Arnim et al., 2005), α 2,6-sialyltransferase (Kitazume et al., 2001), P-selectin glycoprotein ligand-1 (Lichtenthaler et al., 2003), interleukin-1 receptor II (Kuhn et al., 2007), voltage-gated sodium channel β 2 subunit (Kim et al., 2007; Wong et al., 2005), neuregulin-1 (Hu et al., 2006; Willem et al., 2006) and neuregulin-3 (Hu et al., 2008). Taken together, partial or specific rather than complete inhibition of BACE1 activity may probably serve as a more viable therapeutic strategy.

1.4.3 γ -secretase complex

The final step in the generation and release of A β requires γ –secretase which is a multi-subunit intramembrane protease complex that cleaves c-terminal fragments of APP. The γ -secretase complex consists of four proteins: presenilin 1 (PS1) or presenilin 2 (PS2), nicastrin, anterior pharynx defective-1 (Aph-1) and presenilin enhancer-2 (Pen-2) (De Strooper, 2003; Edbauer et al., 2003; Francis et al., 2002; Goutte et al., 2002; Kimberly et al., 2003; Steiner et al., 2002; Takasugi et al., 2003; Yu et al., 2000) which are present at equal stoichiometry (Osenkowski et al., 2009; Sato et al., 2007). PS1 and PS2 are homologous proteins that share overall 63% identity in amino acid sequence and very similar structure. Likewise, human Aph-1 also has two homologues, Aph-1a which has two alternative spliced forms and Aph-1b. Therefore, in total six distinct γ -secretase complexes exist (Shirotani et al., 2004). A number of experiments in knockout mice suggest different complexes have heterogenous biochemical properties and exert divergent biological functions (Dejaegere et al., 2008; Herreman et al., 1999; Ma et al., 2005; Serneels et al., 2005; Serneels et al., 2009). Additional proteins that interact with γ -secretase complex are also identified and are indicated to be involved in the maturation and regulation of complex (Wakabayashi et al., 2009).

PS 1 and PS2 are the first γ -secretase subunits identified (De Strooper et al., 1998; Herreman et al., 2000; Zhang et al., 2000) and are proposed to provide the active sites that are needed for γ -secretase processing of APP (Wolfe et al., 1999). Several studies indicate PS2 is less efficient than PS1 in terms of APP cleavage and A β production (Bentahir et al., 2006; Lai et al., 2003; Mastrangelo et al., 2005). Thus, it might not be surprising that less than 15 mutations in PS2 have been associated with AD while over 180 FAD-linked PS1 mutations are reported.

In addition to APP, many other substrates have been identified for presenilins (Wakabayashi and De Strooper, 2008). For example, Notch is cleaved by presenilins to release the Notch intracellular domain (NICD) which transduces the Notch signaling (De Strooper et al., 1999; Song et al., 1999; Struhl and Greenwald, 1999). Accordingly, PS1/PS2 double-null mice die at embryonic day 9.5 with multiple developmental defects (Donoviel et al., 1999). Similarly,

administration of γ -secretase inhibitors caused gastrointestinal toxicity in experimental animals due to disruption of Notch signaling (Searfoss et al., 2003; van Es et al., 2005; Wong et al., 2004). Therefore, several approaches have been proposed to specifically inhibit the γ -secretase activity towards A β 42 production without significantly perturbing Notch signaling such as specific inactivation of the Aph1B γ -secretase (Serneels et al., 2009), modulating the cellular trafficking of γ -secretase (Thathiah et al., 2009), and use of non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (Takahashi et al., 2003; Weggen et al., 2001; Weggen et al., 2003).

1.5 Amyloid-β protein

Amyloid- β protein (A β), the major protein constituent of the amyloid fibrils, was first isolated and purified from plaques in AD patient and aged individuals with Down syndrome by Glenner and Wong (Glenner and Wong, 1984a, b). It primarily composed of variants of the 4-kDa peptide that differs in solubility, stability and biological properties. A β exhibits a substantial heterogeneity due to proteolysis and additional modifications (De Strooper, 2010). γ -secretase complex can mediate γ -cleavage at different positions of APP, producing a variety of A β . A β_{40} which ends at residue Val-40 is most abundant and is continuously produced in both healthy and AD affected brains. Historically, many researches were focused on another A β form, A β_{42} , since it aggregates into fibril deposition in amyloid plaques more readily than A β_{40} due to its higher hydrophobicity. Moreover, genetic mutations causing early onset AD increased the relative production of this peptide. As accumulating evidence demonstrates the importance of soluble AB assemblies in AD pathogenesis, the contribution of this particular $A\beta_{42}$ species might have been overstated. A β can aggregate and form different oligomeric assemblies. It can also, as mentioned above, arrange into cross–β-sheet units and form amyloid fibrils in the deposited plaques. While original amyloid hypothesis focused on deposited A β as the major culprit of neuronal damage, increasing evidence suggests smaller, soluble oligomeric species of AB could indeed mediate the neurotoxicity. Lambert *et al.* reported that small diffusible A β oligomers which they referred to as Aβ-derived diffusible ligands (ADDLs) could inhibit hippocampal long term potentiation (LTP) and cause neuronal death (Lambert et al., 1998). Similarly, impairment of LTP and memory deficits induced by smaller Aß species such as dimers, trimers and a 56-kDa soluble assembly are also demonstrated in vivo by other groups (Lesne et al., 2006; Shankar et al., 2008; Townsend et al., 2006; Walsh et al., 2002). Moreover, soluble A β appears to be a better correlate with dementia and synaptic loss than deposited A β in plaques (Lue et al., 1999; McLean et al., 1999). Yet, which A β species are most pathogenic and how they mediate neurotoxicity remains to be clarified (Benilova et al., 2012). Since various A β species in different aggregation states coexist *in vivo*, it has been proposed that a mixture of A β derivatives could each interact with various cellular proteins causing neuronal damage.

1.6 Association between Alzheimer's disease and diabetes mellitus

1.6.1 An overview of diabetes mellitus

Diabetes mellitus (DM) is a complex metabolic disorder characterized by chronic hyperglycemia and associated with macrovascular and microvascular complications. Depending on the degree of the disorder, the clinical presentations range widely from being asymptomatic to polyuria and polydipsia to ketoacidosis or coma. With prolonged duration of hyperglycemia, microvascular complications (retinopathy, nephropathy and neuropathy) may be developed, leading to visual disturbance, renal failure and gangrene. Diabetes also increases the risks for stroke and myocardial infarction by accelerating and exacerbating arteriosclerosis which constitutes the major cause of the mortality of diabetic patients.

According to the World Health Organization's report released in September 2012, 347 million people worldwide currently suffer from diabetes mellitus with 90% of the cases being type 2 diabetes (WHO, 2012). In 2030, the global prevalence of diabetes is projected to be 439 million individuals, constituting 7.7% of the world population (Farag and Gaballa, 2011).

The current diagnostic criteria for diabetes mellitus are based on the fasting and postprandial plasma glucose level. Individuals are diagnosed to have diabetes if they meet one of the following criteria: (i) fasting plasma glucose level of \geq 126 mg/dL (7.0 mmol/L); (ii) 2-h value of \geq 200 mg/dL (11.1 mmol/L) in 75 g oral glucose tolerance test (OGTT); or (iii) casual plasma

glucose level of $\geq 200 \text{ mg/dL}$ (11.1 mmol/L). Fasting plasma glucose level of <110 mg/dL (6.1 mmol/L) and 2-h value of <140 mg/dL (7.8 mmol/L) in OGTT is defined as normal type. Values between the diabetic and normal are defined as borderline type (American Diabetes Association, 2012). In addition, an elevated level of Hemoglobin A1c (HbA1c) that $\geq 6.5\%$ is now also considered as an indication of diabetes mellitus. While direct blood glucose measurement provides current plasma glucose level, HbA1c results reflect the level of plasma glucose over a course of 2-3 months.

Based on its etiology, diabetes mellitus is classified into four groups: type 1 diabetes, type 2 diabetes, Gestational diabetes and diabetes due to other specific mechanisms and diseases (American Diabetes Association, 2012). Type 1 diabetes is characterized by an absolute deficiency in insulin derived from autoimmune destruction of β -cells in the pancreas. Type 2 diabetes, which accounts for about 90% of all diabetes cases around the world is characterized by combinations of decreased insulin secretion and insulin resistance. Gestational diabetes mellitus (GDM) is defined by the American Diabetes Association as "any degree of glucose intolerance with onset or first recognition during pregnancy" (Metzger et al., 2007). Unlike other types of diabetes, GDM utilizes different diagnostic criteria as the normal physiological blood glucose level is altered during pregnancy. Other specific types of diabetes are caused through mechanisms other than the ones above, such as nonimmune-mediated injury to the pancreatic β -cells or the pancreas as a whole and dysregulation of hormones with opposing effect against insulin.

1.6.2 Epidemiological and experimental evidence of the association between Alzheimer's disease and diabetes

It was demonstrated as early as in 1922 by Miles and Root that there is a cognitive impairment in people with diabetes (Miles Wr, 1922). Later a large number of studies confirmed that diabetic patients suffer from damaged verbal memory, diminished mental speed and mental flexibility (Brands et al., 2005; Cukierman et al., 2005; Stewart and Liolitsa, 1999; Strachan et al., 1997).

Accumulating epidemiological evidence shows an elevated risk of Alzheimer's disease in people with diabetes. In a systematic review of longitudinal population-based studies that compare the incidence of dementia between diabetic and nondiabetic groups, Biessels *et al.* reported an increase in risk of AD of 50-100% in diabetic individuals with no obvious relation to ethnic origins as shown in table 1.1 (Biessels et al., 2006). Similarly, in a more recent review that particularly focused on the risk of incident Alzheimer's disease in diabetic patients, Kopf *et al.* also reported an elevated risk of AD in people with diabetes (Kopf and Frolich, 2009). He also pointed out that studies with larger sample size, ascertainment of early diabetes and strict diagnosis for dementia subtype are prone to report a positive association between the two diseases.

Country	Follow-up	Patients(patients	Relative Risk*	Reference
	(years)	with diabetes/total	(95%CI)	
		number of		
		patients)		
Netherlands	2.1	692/6370	1.9 (1.2–3.1)	(Ott et al., 1999)
UK	2.4	25/376 [§]	OR1.4 (1.1–17.0)	Brayne et al., 1998)
Japan	7	70/828	2.2 (1.0-4.9)	(Yoshitake et al., 1995)
USA(Hawaii)	2.9	900/2574 [§]	1.7 (1.0–2.8)	(Peila et al., 2002)
Canada	5	503/5574 [§]	1.2 (0.8–1.8)	(MacKnight et al., 2002)
Sweden	4.7	114/1301	HR1.3 (0.8–1.9)	(Xu et al., 2004)
USA	6.9	1455/75000 [§]	SMR1.6 (1.3-2.0)	(Leibson et al., 1997)
USA	5.5	231/1138 [§]	HR2.4 (1.8–3.2)	(Luchsinger et al., 2005)
USA	5.5	27/824 [§]	HR1.7 (1.1–2.5)	(Arvanitakis et al., 2004)

Table 1.1 Increased risk of Alzheimer's disease in patients with diabetes mellitus

Diabetes increased risk of developing AD by 50-100%. Results were adjusted for age and sex mostly for education, and vascular risk factors. Diagnoses for AD were made according to NINCDS-ADRDA (McKhann et al., 1984). [§]Number at follow-up, all the rest are numbers at baseline *Relative risks unless otherwise stated. Abbreviations: OR, odds ratio; HR, hazard ratio; SMR, standard morbidity ratio. Table adapted from Biessels *et al.*2006.

Furthermore, studies in experimental animal models also demonstrated a strong association between diabetes and Alzheimer's disease. Crossing APP23 mice, a well-established AD mouse model, with two lines of diabetic mice (ob/ob and NSY mice) exacerbated the Alzheimer-like cognitive dysfunction (Takeda et al., 2010). In another transgenic AD mouse model predisposed to develop tau pathology, the onset of experimental diabetes by streptozotocin administration potentiated tau deposition and NFT formation (Ke et al., 2009). Similarly, induction of diabetes by streptozotocin injection exaggerated AD neuropathology in APP transgenic mice, including tau phosphorylation and A β deposits (Jolivalt et al., 2010).

1.6.3 Common pathologies in Alzheimer's disease and diabetes

AD and diabetes share a number of pathologies such as impaired glucose metabolism, amyloidogenesis, brain atrophy, enhanced formation of advanced glycation end products (AGEs), oxidative stress, mitochondria dysfunction, inflammation and hypercholesterolemia (Sims-Robinson et al., 2010). Each, alone or in synergy with other factors, contributes to the initiation and/or progression of the two disorders. Each aspect has been under intensive studies with a large body of publications. For the purpose of introducing background information that is most relevant of this study, I will mainly introduce abnormalities in glucose metabolism including hyperglycemia in AD and briefly touch on other aspects.

1.6.3.1 Impaired glucose metabolism

Diabetes is featured by systematic impairment of glucose metabolism and subsequent chronic hyperglycemia. AD, on the other hand, also exhibits metabolic abnormalities that resemble diabetes (Hoyer, 2004). Deficits in cerebral glucose utilization associated with insulin resistance in AD patients are well observed and studied over decades. Overall, global cerebral metabolic rate for glucose is 20–25% lower in AD compared with healthy controls (Cunnane et al., 2011). The most severely affected cerebral regions include the posterior cingulate, posterior temporal

and anterior occipital lobes in early stages, and later on, spread to the prefrontal cortex (Foster et al., 1984; Friedland et al., 1985; Mosconi et al., 2008).

Accumulating evidence demonstrated that patients with AD suffered from hyperglycemia. In a community-based controlled study, 81% of the AD patients exhibited either impaired fasting glucose (IFG) (fasting glucose concentration 110-125 mg/dL) or frank diabetes (fasting glucose concentration \geq 126 mg/dL) (Janson et al., 2004). Similar increase in plasma glucose concentration in AD patients compared with control group is also observed in other studies (Carantoni et al., 2000; Meneilly and Hill, 1993; Razay G, 2007).

1.6.3.2 Other shared pathology of AD and diabetes

Generation of amyloidogenic peptides and subsequent aggregation into insoluble plaques is a shared pathological characteristic in diabetes and AD (Chiti and Dobson, 2006). Analogous to amyloid plaques in AD brains, islet amyloid deposits composed of human islet amyloid polypeptide (hIAPP) are present in the pancreas of majority of diabetic patients (Clark et al., 1988; Cooper et al., 1987; Westermark et al., 1987). hIAPP fibrils share a similar molecular structure with A β fibrils (Luca et al., 2007) and are suggested to exert toxicity by similar mechanisms (Haataja et al., 2008). Diabetic patients also exhibit subcortical atrophy in brain that correlates with impaired cognition (Akisaki et al., 2006; Manschot et al., 2006). In addition, increased level of AGEs (Srikanth et al., 2011), mitochondria dysfunction associated with oxidative stress (Moreira et al., 2007), inflammation (Donath and Shoelson, 2011; Wyss-Coray,

2006), and hypercholesterolemia (Harris and Milton, 2010; Mooradian, 2009) are also important pathologies that are common to both AD and diabetes.

1.7 Role of glucose in cognition

The brain is in high demand of energy in order to maintain its functions and glucose is the main cerebral energy substrate. While the brain only makes up for 2% of the total body weight, it consumes at least 25% of the circulating glucose under resting conditions (Magistretti, 1999). While shortage of glucose supply can cause severe brain damage as seen in stroke, chronic hyperglycemia is also detrimental to brain function. Therefore, balanced glucose metabolism is required for optimal brain function.

1.7.1 Glucose uptake in human brain

To reach neurons in the brain, glucose must across the blood-brain barrier (BBB) and cell membrane. This process is mediated by facilitative glucose transporters (GLUTs). 14 members of the GLUT family have been identified in human with different substrate specificity, binding affinity and tissue distribution (Scheepers et al., 2004). The predominant glucose transporters in brain are GLUT 1 and GLUT3 while other transporters are also expressed in brain at much lower levels (Vannucci et al., 1997).

Glucose is transported from circulating blood, across BBB, into cerebral interstitial spaces by GLUT1, following concentration gradient. First cloned from human HepG2 hepatoma cells (Mueckler et al., 1985), GLUT1is ubiquitously expressed throughout the human tissues. Besides

its high expression in brain, GLUT1 is also expressed in erythrocytes (Kalaria et al., 1988) and other blood-tissue barriers such as retina and placenta (Harik et al., 1990). In brain, GLUT1 is detected as two isoforms of different molecular weight: the 55kDa form exclusively present in endothelial cells of blood-brain barrier and the 45kDa form expressed in all other neural cells (Maher et al., 1993b). The two isoforms are encoded by the same gene and their difference in molecular weight is due to varying extent of glycosylation (Birnbaum et al., 1986). The transportation of glucose across BBB is mediated by GLUT1 55kDa form. The expression of GLUT1 can be regulated by glucose as high glucose concentration decreased GLUT1 mRNA and protein level in cultured cells (Klip et al., 1994).

Once across the BBB and reaching cerebral interstitial spaces, glucose can be uptaken by neurons via its high affinity transporter, GLUT3. GLUT3 is cloned from human fetal skeletal muscle (Kayano et al., 1988) and is the predominant neuronal glucose transporter (Bondy et al., 1992; Nagamatsu et al., 1992). GLUT3 is also present at lower level in heart, placenta, and platelets (Craik et al., 1995; Shepherd et al., 1992) but not in BBB (Maher et al., 1993b). GLUT3 expression appears to be regulated by neuronal activity. Chronic depolarization which is known to stimulate oxidative metabolism increased GLUT3 expression (Maher and Simpson, 1994). Also, enhanced hypothalamic signal induced by water deprivation and streptozotocin-induced diabetes promotes GLUT3 expression (Maher et al., 1993a; Vannucci et al., 1994).

1.7.2 Physiological level of extracellular glucose in human brain

Presumably due to blood brain barrier and high metabolic rate, the concentration of extracellular brain glucose is substantially lower than that in circulating blood. Using quantitative microdialysis in anesthetized human, Langemann *et al.* reported the extracellular glucose is approximately 1.7mM in human brain (Langemann et al., 2001). Another group reported a similar result---a baseline value of 1.7 ± 0.9 mM glucose in awake human (Reinstrup et al., 2000). In addition, by zero-flow technique, the glucose level in brain dialysate of conscious human under basal fasting conditions was calculated to be 1.57 ± 0.76 mM (Abi-Saab et al., 2002).

Furthermore, studies in both experimental animals and human subjects have found that the level of extracellular glucose in brain closely parallels the changes in plasma glucose. Using glucose microelectrodes, Silver and Erecinska observed that extracellular brain glucose increased during hyperglycemia and decreased during hypoglycemia in rats: while the concentration of extracellular glucose in brain is 2.4±0.1mM in normoglycemic rat, it rose to 4.5±0.4mM during hyperglycemia induced by intraperitoneal injection of glucose and dropped to 0.16±0.03mM during hypoglycemia induced by insulin administration (Silver and Erecinska, 1994). Similar phenomenon was also observed in human by intracerebral microdialysis: in euglycemia when plasma glucose is around 5.5mM, the corresponding value in brain is around 1mM; when plasma glucose increased to 11.5mM during hyperglycemia clamp, extracellular glucose in brain increased to approximately 1.6mM; during hypoglycemia with 3mM glucose in plasma the glucose in brain declined to about 0.3mM (Abi-Saab et al., 2002). The lower value of brain

glucose reported here is probably due to the specific microdialysis methods employed as a higher reading was obtained using the zero-flow method in the same study.

1.7.3 Effect of hyperglycemia on cognition

While sufficient supply of glucose is required for normal brain function, studies in both animals and human proved that excessive blood glucose is toxic and detrimental on cognition. In streptozotocin-induced diabetic rats which are severely hyperglycemic, both spatial learning and hippocampal long-term potentiation are impaired compared with control (Biessels et al., 1996). Also, in old rats high blood glucose level was found to correlate with poor spatial learning (Blokland and Raaijmakers, 1993).

Many studies have demonstrated a strong association between chronic hyperglycaemia and cognitive impairment. For example, Perlmuter *et al.* found diabetic patients with higher HbA1c levels showed a poorer performance in a serial learning task (Perlmuter et al., 1984). Similarly, Jagusch *et al.* found an inverse correlation between HbA1c levels in diabetic patients and performance in a memory test (Jagusch et al., 1992). In the Zutphen population study, increased errors on Mini-Mental State Examination are reported in diabetic men with higher fasting blood glucose levels (Kalmijn et al., 1995). Moreover, hyperglycemia also has a negative impact on cognitive function in nondiabetic individuals. Rolandsson *et al.* found episodic memory is inversely associated with fasting blood glucose level in nondiabetic women (Rolandsson et al., 2008). Perhaps the most compelling evidence came from a longitudinal study of elderly women
in which high fasting blood glucose level was found to significantly increase the risk of developing cognitive impairment after multivariable adjustment (Yaffe et al., 2009).

While some study showed memory facilitation after acute increase in blood glucose to 225 mg/dl by hyperglycemic clamp in individuals with very mild AD (Craft et al., 1993), it should be noted that acute and chronic hyperglycemia may induce different effects on cognition.

1.8 Hypothesis and specific aims

1.8.1 Hypothesis

Diabetes is a great risk factor for development of Alzheimer's disease. Yet the underlying mechanism is not known. Hyperglycemia is a pathological feature that forms the basis of diabetes and amyloidogenesis is central to AD pathogenesis. I hypothesize that high level of glucose could up-regulate APP level and promote $A\beta$ production. This study is designed to investigate if hyperglycemia could enhance amyloidogenesis.

1.8.2 Specific aims

Specific aim 1: To determine the effect of high glucose on APP protein level and Aß production

Specific aim 2: To examine the effect of high glucose on APP transcription

Specific aim 3: To define the effect of high glucose on APP degradation

Overall, this study may provide a new insight into the link between diabetes mellitus and Alzheimer's disease and therefore offers a new perspective for therapeutic interventions of AD.

Chapter 2 High glucose treatment increases APP protein level and Aβ production

Given the central role of APP processing and $A\beta$ generation in AD pathogenesis, we first examined if hyperglycemia, the prominent characteristic of diabetes that also present in AD, could affect APP and A β generation. We found that high glucose treatment significantly increased full-length APP protein level in human neuroblastoma SH-SY5Y cells and high glucose also increased A β 40 production in 20E2 cells, a human embryonic kidney 293 (HEK293) cell line stably expressing Swedish mutant APP₆₉₅ (Qing et al., 2004).

2.1 Materials and methods

2.1.1 Cell culture and high glucose treatment

Human neuroblastoma SH-SY5Y cells were maintained in glucose-free Dulbecco's modified eagle medium (DMEM) supplemented with 2.5mM D-glucose, 10% fetal bovine serum (FBS), 50 units of Penicillin and 50 μ g of Streptomycin (Life Technologies). 20E2 cells, a cell line of HEK293 cells stably expressing Swedish mutant APP₆₉₅ (Qing et al., 2004), were cultured in glucose-free DMEM supplemented with 5.5mM D-glucose, 10% FBS, 50 units of Penicillin and 50 μ g of Streptomycin and 50 μ g/ml geneticin. All cells were maintained at 37°C in an incubator containing 5% CO2. High glucose media were prepared by adding additional glucose to the media above to 10 and 25 mM glucose. The osmotic pressure was adjusted with D-mannitol (Fisher). The cells were treated with high glucose media for 24 or 48 hours.

2.1.2 Western blot

Cells were harvested and lysed in RIPA-DOC lysis buffer (0.05M Tris-HCl pH 7.2, 0.15M NaCl, 0.1% SDS, 1% sodium deoxycholate, and 1% triton x-100) supplemented with complete protease inhibitor (Roche Diagnostics). Lysates were sonicated and centrifuged at 13,200rpm for 10 minutes to pellet the cellular debris. The supernatant was then diluted in 4X SDS-sample buffer and boiled. After resolved in 8% tris-glycine SDS-PAGE, the proteins were transferred to polyvindylidine fluoride (PVDF-FL) membranes (Immobilon-FL, Millipore, MA, USA). For immunoblot analysis, membranes were blocked with 5% non-fat milk dissolved in phosphate-buffered saline (PBS) for 1 h and incubated in primary antibodies overnight at 4°C. Anti-APP antibody C20 is a polyclonal rabbit antibody made in-house that recognizes the last twenty amino acids of the APP carboxyl-terminus. Monoclonal antibody AC-15 (Sigma) was used to detect β -actin. After incubation, the membranes were washed in PBS with 0.1% Tween-20 and incubated with secondary antibodies, IRDye[™] 680 goat anti-rabbit antibody or IRDye[™] 800CW-labelled goat anti-mouse antibody (LI-COR Biosciences) at room temperature for 1 h, and visualized using an Odyssey Infrared Imaging System (LI-COR Biosciences).

2.1.3 Human Aβ40 ELISA

24 hours after high glucose treatment, conditioned cell culture media were collected. To prevent degradation of A β , protease inhibitors (AEBSF) were added. The cell media were centrifuged at 2000rpm for 5 minutes to precipitate cells in the media. The concentration of A β 40 was

measured by A β 40 human ELISA kit (KHB3482, Life Technologies) according to the manufacturer's instructions.

2.2 Results

2.2.1 High glucose treatment increases APP protein level

To investigate whether hyperglycemia could affect APP level, we treated the human neuroblastoma SH-SY5Y cells with culture media containing 10mM or 25mM glucose to mimic hyperglycemia *in vitro* and compared with cells treated with 2.5mM glucose media which serves as control. The 2.5mM glucose was used to approximate the physiological extracellular glucose concentration in the brain (Abi-Saab et al., 2002; Reinstrup et al., 2000). We found that 10 and 25mM glucose treatment significantly increased the level of full-length APP protein to $152.63\pm10.78\%$, $140.59\pm6.80\%$ (p<0.05) comparing with the control (Fig.2.1 A,B) at 24-hour time point. Similarly, the expression of full-length APP was significantly increased to $120.52\pm4.20\%$ or $146.04\pm0.59\%$ (p<0.05), respectively, in cells treated with 10 or 25mM glucose for 48 hours comparing with the control (Fig.2.1C,D).



SH-SY5Y cells were cultured and treated with different concentration of glucose for 24 hours(**A**), and 48 hours(**C**). 2.5mM glucose treatment serves as control. The cell lysates were analyzed by Western blot. Full-length APP was detected by C20 antibody. β -actin, serving as internal control, was detected by AC-15 antibody. 24- and 48h-high glucose treatment significantly increased full-length APP protein level. Quantification of full-length APP after 24-hour treatment of high glucose by Image J(**B**) The APP protein level was normalized by β -actin. The values are expressed as mean±S.E.M, n=4,*p<0.05 by ANOVA. Quantification of full-length APP after 48-hour treatment of high glucose by Image J (**D**) The APP protein level was normalized by β -actin. The values are expressed as mean±S.E.M, n=3,*p<0.05 by ANOVA.

2.2.2 High glucose treatment enhances Aβ production

Since the level of full-length APP was increased after high glucose treatment, we wanted to know whether high glucose treatment also has impact on A β production. Therefore, we measured the level of A β_{40} in the conditioned media of 20E2 cells, a HEK cell line that stably expresses Swedish mutant APP₆₉₅. Since 20E2 derives from a peripheral cell line, we used 5.5mM glucose, which is the physiological normal blood glucose at periphery, as control. After 24-hour treatment

of 10mM glucose the A β_{40} level increased to 133.21±3.69% (p<0.0001) (Fig.2.2). When treated with culture media containing 25mM glucose A β_{40} production increased to 142.49±4.21% (p<0.0001) (Fig.2.2). Taken together, high glucose treatment markedly enhanced A β_{40} production.





The 20E2 cells were cultured and treated with different concentrations of glucose for 24 hours. Media containing 5.5mM glucose serves as control. A β_{40} level in conditioned media of 20E2 cells was measured by ELISA. The values are expressed as mean±S.E.M, n=4, *p<0.0001, by ANOVA.

2.3 Conclusion and discussion

We found high glucose treatment increased the level of full-length APP protein in cultured human neuroblastoma cells and facilitated the production of A β 40 in 20E2 cells. Our results indicate that hyperglycemia in diabetic patients might enhance the expression and amyloidogenic processing of APP and promote development of Alzheimer's disease.

In human brain, the basal concentration of glucose in interstitial spaces which neurons are directly exposed to is around 2mM (Abi-Saab et al., 2002; Langemann et al., 2001; Reinstrup et

al., 2000). The normal plasma glucose concentration in peripheral is about 5.5mM. While many commercial culture media contains glucose around 25mM, it significantly departs from physiological glucose levels, raising the risk of inducing nonphysiological responses. In supporting of this notion, Kleman *et al.* demonstrated that the metabolic environment of cultured cells has a significant impact on neuronal viability and response to metabolic stress (Kleman et al., 2008). Therefore, application of glucose within concentration that is physiologically relevant can more accurately detect the *in vivo* response.

It is known that the expression of APP can be stimulated by various cellular stress conditions (Abe et al., 1991; Dewji et al., 1995). To avoid the potential confounding effect of osmotic pressure, the osmolarity of all the treatment media was adjusted with D-mannitol. In fact, we found that the osmotic pressure does not affect APP expression as treatment with osmolarity-unadjusted media induced increase in APP protein to a similar extent as that by osmolarity-adjusted media (unshown data).

The increase in A β could result from enhanced APP level, yet, it is possible that high glucose also upregulates β -secretase and γ -secretase expression and/or activity. Hyperglycemia can lead to elevated oxidative stress (Vincent et al., 2004) and both BACE1 and PS1 expression are found to be stimulated by oxidative stress accompanied by an increase in A β production (Oda et al., 2010; Quiroz-Baez et al., 2009; Tamagno et al., 2008; Tong et al., 2005). Therefore, it may be helpful to investigate the effect of high glucose treatment on BACE1 and PS1 in future studies.

Chapter 3 High glucose treatment does not affect APP transcription

Since our data demonstrated that high glucose significantly increased the level of APP protein and A β production, we further investigated the underlying mechanism of this phenomenon. First, we examined glucose's effect on *APP* promoter activity and gene transcription. Our result showed that high glucose treatment did not significantly affect the promoter activity or the mRNA level of *APP* gene.

3.1 Materials and methods

3.1.1 Cell culture and high glucose treatment

SH-SY5Y cells were maintained as described in Section 2.1.1 and treated with media containing 10mM and 25mM glucose for 24 or 48 hours. The osmotic pressure was adjusted with D-mannitol (Fisher).

3.1.2 Luciferase assay

The pAPP-Luc plasmid, containing 2.94kb of human *APP* promoter region upstream of the firefly luciferase reporter gene (Li et al., 2006), was used for luciferase assay to determine the activity of APP promoter. The transfection was performed using Lipofectamine 2000 (Invitrogen). One day prior to transfection, SH-SY5Y cells were seeded onto 60mm plates at the density of 5.0×10^5 cells/ml culture media. On the day of transfection, the cells were grown to approximately 70% confluence and transfected with 4.6ug plasmid DNA along with 18.4ng *Renilla* luciferase vector pCMV-Rluc (Promega) to control transfection efficiency. Four hours after transfection, the cells were seeded to 24-well plates and grown overnight. 16 to 18 hours

later, the culture media were changed to conditional media with different glucose concentration. The cells were treated for 24 or 48 hours and then harvested. The luciferase assay was performed according to the protocol for Dual-Luciferase Reporter Assay system (Promega) using a luminometer (Fluoroskan Ascent, ThermoLab Systems).

3.1.3 Semi-quantitative reverse transcription PCR

RNA was extracted from cells using TRI-Reagent (Sigma). An equal amount of RNA samples were used as templates to synthesize the first strand cDNA with ThermoScriptTM reverse transcriptase (Invitrogen). The newly synthesized cDNA then served as templates and the coding sequence of human *APP* was amplified by Platinum *Tag* DNA polymerase (Invitrogen) in a 20-µl reaction with following primers:

APP forward 5'- GCTGGCCTGCTGGCTGAACC;

APP reverse 5'-GGCGACGGTGTGCCAGTGAA;

 β -actin levels served as an internal control. The PCR products were analyzed in 0.8% agarose gel (Sigma).

3.2 Results

3.2.1 High glucose treatment does not affect APP gene promoter activity

To examine whether the increase in full-length APP protein induced by high glucose treatment was via enhancement of *APP* gene transcription, we first determined *APP* promoter activity in human neuroblastoma SH-SY5Y cells treated with high glucose. We used pAPP-Luc plasmid which was constructed by inserting a 2.94kb region of human *APP* promoter into the promoterless vector pGL3-basic upstream of the firefly luciferase reporter gene (Li et al., 2006). The SH-SY5Y cells were transfected with the plasmid and treated with different glucose. 24 hours or 48 hours after the treatment, the cells were harvested and the promoter activity was determined by luciferase assay. We found that neither 24-hour nor 48-hour treatment of high glucose changed the *APP* promoter activity (Fig 3.1).



Figure 3.1 High glucose treatment does not affect APP gene promoter activity

The 2.94 kb human APP promoter was transfected into SH-SY5Ycells and treated with high glucose for 24 hours (**A**) and 48 hours (**B**). 2.5mM glucose serves as control. Luciferase assasy was performed. High glucose treatment did not affect APP promoter activity. All the data shown are results of 4 independent experiments, with each condition performed in triplicates. The values are expressed as mean \pm S.E.M. n=4, by ANOVA.

3.2.2 High glucose treatment does not affect APP transcription

We also determined the endogenous APP mRNA level in human neuroblastoma SH-SY5Y cells after high glucose treatment. Consistent with the promoter data, 24-hour high glucose treatment did not have a significant effect on APP mRNA level (Fig 3.2A, B). Similarly, at 48 hours, there was not significant change in APP mRNA level (Fig 3.2C, D).





SH-SY5Y cells were treated with different concentration of glucose for 24 hours(**A**) and 48 hours(**C**). RNA was extracted and APP mRNA level was measured by semi-quantitative PCR with specific primers. β -actin served as an internal control. 24-hour and 48-hour treatment of high glucose did not significantly affect APP mRNA. Quantification of full-length APP after 24-hour treatment of high glucose by Image J(**B**) The APP mRNA level was normalized by β -actin. The values are expressed as mean±S.E.M, n=7, by ANOVA. Quantification of full-length APP after 48-hour treatment of high glucose by Image J, normalized by β -actin(**D**) The values are expressed as mean±S.E.M, n=5, by ANOVA.

3.3 Conclusion and discussion

Our result showed that high glucose treatment did not affect *APP* gene transcription in human neuroblastoma cells as it didn't significantly increase the *APP* promoter activity or *APP* mRNA level.

The human APP promoter lacks CAAT and TATA box, and displays characteristics of a

housekeeping gene (La Fauci et al., 1989; Salbaum et al., 1988). It contains a high GC region, a heat shock element, a cAMP-responsive element and consensus binding sequences for the transcription factor AP-1, SP-1, homeobox protein Hox-1.3, GATA-1and NF-kB (D. Goldgaber, 1991; Grilli et al., 1995; La Fauci et al., 1989; Salbaum et al., 1988). The proximal APP promoter region that is sufficient for high levels of expression in various cell lines extends to about 100bp upstream of the transcription start site (Lahiri and Robakis, 1991; Pollwein et al., 1992; Quitschke and Goldgaber, 1992). APP expression can be stimulated by interleukin-1, retinoic acid, phorbol esters, growth factors (Goldgaber et al., 1989; Konig et al., 1990; Mobley et al., 1988; Yoshikai et al., 1990) and various stresses such as heat shock, treatment with ethanol and sodium arsenite (Abe et al., 1991; Dewji et al., 1995). To our knowledge, no publication has reported the effect of high glucose on APP expression. High glucose is known to lead to excessive production of reactive oxygen species in neurons (Russell et al., 2002). In agreement with our result, previous study reported that reactive oxygen species didn't activate the APP promoter in neurons (Yang et al., 1998a).

Chapter 4 High glucose treatment inhibits APP degradation

Previous results have shown an increase in APP protein level yet without significant change in mRNA level. This dissociation between mRNA and protein level suggests that the alteration of APP level occurs at post-transcription level. Since the level of one protein in the cells depends on the counterbalance between its production and degradation, we wanted to see if APP turnover is affected by high glucose treatment. With cycloheximide (CHX), a protein synthesis inhibitor, we examined the APP degradation rate in the presence of high glucose in cultured cells. Compared to cells maintained in control media, cells cultured with high glucose media showed a reduction in APP degradation rate which may explain the increase in APP protein level under high glucose.

4.1 Materials and methods

4.1.1 Cell culture and drug treatment

SH-SY5Y cells were maintained in media containing 2.5mM glucose as described in Section 2.1.1 and seeded into 35mm plates. When grown to approximately 80% confluence, the cells were treated with media containing high glucose and cycloheximide at 100ug/ml (Sigma) and harvested 30minutes later for western blot analysis.

4.1.2 Western blot

Western blot was performed as previously described in Section 2.1.2. Briefly, the cell lysates were denatured in sample buffer and resolved in 8% SDS-PAGE followed by transfer to PVDF membranes. After block with 5% non-fat milk, the membrane was incubated with anti-APP antibody C20 and anti-Actin antibody AC-15 at 4°C overnight. After washing the membrane was

then incubated with secondary antibodies at room temperature for 1 hour and scanned by Odyssey system.

4.2 Results

4.2.1 High glucose treatment inhibits APP degradation

Previous results demonstrated that APP holoprotein was increased after high glucose treatment. Yet, APP transcription was not affected as glucose treatment didn't have a significant effect on *APP* promoter activity or APP mRNA level. Since protein degradation is an important player of protein expression regulation. We then examined whether high glucose affected APP protein degradation. SH-SY5Y cells were cultured in 2.5mM glucose media and seeded into several 35mm plates at equal amount. When the confluence reached approximately 80%, the culture media were replaced by media containing 100ug/ml CHX and different concentration of glucose. The cells were harvested 30 minutes after the treatment and analyzed by western blot. The result shows that 30 minutes after treatment, 52.25±5.07% of the initial total APP protein remains in cells that received 10mM glucose, and 82.43±6.19% of the initial APP persists in cells that received 25mM glucose (p<0.05) (Fig. 4.1). Therefore, high glucose slowed down the APP degradation.



Figure 4.1 High glucose treatment inhibits APP protein degradation

SH-SY5Y cells were treated with 100ug/ml cycloheximide (CHX) and 2.5mM (served as control), 10mM, 25mM glucose. The cells were harvested at 30min post-treatment and the cell lysates were analyzed by Western blot (**A**). Full-length APP was detected by C20 antibody. β -actin, serving as internal control, was detected by AC-15 antibody. Quantification of western blot by Image J(**B**). APP protein level was normalized by β -actin and was plotted as a percentage of the APP amount at 0h. The values are expressed as mean±S.E.M. n=3, *p<0.05, by ANOVA.

4.3 Conclusion and discussion

Using CHX to stop protein synthesis, we found the degradation rate of full-length APP protein is slower in the presence of high glucose. In our system, the half life of APP is about 30 minutes, which is similar to the previous report by the other group (Weidemann et al., 1989).

The mechanism underlying the inhibitory effect of high glucose on APP degradation remains to be clarified. It is possible that glycosylation modification induced by high glucose treatment is one of the mediators. APP is a glycoprotein that undergoes N-glycosylation and O-glycosylation during its passes through the endoplasmic reticulum and Golgi apparatus (Weidemann et al., 1989). Many studies have showed that glycosylation has a great impact on the intracellular trafficking and processing of APP (Georgopoulou et al., 2001). For example, abnormal APP glycosylation induced by mannosidase inhibitors resulted in a significant increase in the cellular APP and decrease in secreted APP (McFarlane et al., 1999). Similarly, mutation of the N-glycosylation sites of APP caused a reduction of its secretion (Yazaki et al., 1996). In addition, N-glycosylation has also been found to be required for axonal sorting of APP (Tienari et al., 1996). Recently, it has been reported that APP degradation pathway could be altered by its glycosylation state (Hare, 2006). The author proposed that abolishment of glycosylation may cause conformational changes that expose previously inaccessible proteolytic sites. Beyond Nand O-glycoslation, ε -glycation which is a non-enzymatically mediated reaction between ε-position at lysines and reducing sugars is also proposed to be involved in APP modification and interfere with its degradation (Schmitt, 2006). Taken together, high glucose may affect the susceptibility of APP to degradation through interfering with its intracellular trafficking and/or alteration of its conformation by glycosylation modification.

Chapter 5 General discussion and future directions

5.1 General discussion

Hyperglycemia may promote AD pathogenesis through interactions between multiple factors and pathways. AD is revealed to be accompanied with exacerbated oxidative stress (Gabbita et al., 1998; Lovell and Markesbery, 2001; Nunomura et al., 1999; Sayre et al., 1997), inflammation (Wyss-Coray, 2006), increased AGEs and mitochondrial dysfunction (Moreira et al., 2010). AD is also associated with high blood glucose (Carantoni et al., 2000; Janson et al., 2004; Razay G, 2007). Elevated blood glucose can cause excessive production of reactive oxygen species that lead to attack to proteins, nucleitides, lipids and subsequent damage of their biological activities (Russell et al., 2002; Sies, 1985; Vincent et al., 2004). In support of this notion, mice feeding on a high glucose diet developed hyperglycemia and enhanced oxidative stress (Folmer et al., 2002). Mitochondria are more vulnerable to this oxidative stress since the mitochondrial genome does not contain protective histories and disruption of the electron-transport chain components can exacerbated the situation by generating more free radicals (Yu et al., 2008). Hyperglycemia can cause mitochondrial damage through increased association between mitochondrial fission protein dynamin-regulated protein 1 and pro-apoptotic proteins Bim and Bax, ultimately resulting in cell apoptosis (Leinninger et al., 2006). On the other hand, Excessive glucose can also accelerate the formation of AGEs (Bucala and Cerami, 1992) which are present at 3-fold more in plaques of AD brains than age-matched controls (Vitek et al., 1994) and are also present in hippocampal neurons and astrocytes of AD brains (Sasaki et al., 2001). AGEs can act synergistically with

oxidative stress to cause protein damage (Mullarkey et al., 1990). Also, AGE modification has been shown to accelerate A β aggregation (Vitek et al., 1994). In addition, AGEs can induce proinflammatory cytokines release by activating their receptors (RAGEs), leading to inflammation (Berbaum et al., 2008). Although many molecular mechanisms have been studied, the exact role of hyperglycemia in APP regulation, the key molecule in AD pathogenesis, remains elusive. In this study, we investigated the effect of high glucose on APP metabolism and A β production.

Our finding that high glucose increased the expression of APP protein is in agreement with a previous report that people with diabetes have higher APP level in platelets than controls (Nomura et al., 1994). We also found that APP transcription was unaffected by high glucose treatment in spite of an increase in APP protein level. By using protein synthesis inhibitor, we found that the rate of APP turnover was decreased after high glucose treatment. APP protein undergoes rapid turnover as more than 70% of newly synthesized APP is intracellularly degraded (Caporaso et al., 1992; Knops et al., 1992). It is conceivable that reduction in APP degradation could lead to a significant increase in APP level. In support of this idea, it is recently reported that disruption of APP degradation by interfering with its ubiquitination resulted in APP accumulation and $A\beta$ overproduction (Kaneko et al., 2010).

The mechanisms whereby alterations in ambient glucose concentrations could affect APP metabolism is unclear. The entry of glucose into neurons requires facilitative glucose

transporters and GLUT3 is the major neuronal glucose transporter. It has been shown that the expression level and/or translocation to plasma membrane of GLUT3 is enhanced during hyperglycemia (Boileau et al., 1995; Merriman-Smith et al., 2003). Thus, it is quite plausible that high extracellular glucose concentrations could lead to an increase in intracellular glucose levels. APP is modified by N-glycosylation and O-glycosylation during maturation (Weidemann et al., 1989). Studies using mannosidase inhibitors (McFarlane et al., 1999; Tienari et al., 1996) and mutation of glycosylation sites (Yazaki et al., 1996) demonstrated a significant impact of APP glycosylation on its trafficking and processing. Interestingly, it has recently been reported that APP degradation pathway could be altered by its glycosylation state which may subsequently induce conformational changes (Hare, 2006). Moreover, N- and O-glycosylation predispose APP protein to Thr668 phosphorylation which, in turn, directs APP to axonal transportation (Ando et al., 1999). The intracellular trafficking of APP is known to be an important determinant for its processing (Andersen et al., 2005; El Ayadi et al., 2012). Therefore, high glucose may affect APP processing and A β production through glycosylation modification of APP which leads to alterations in intracellular trafficking and/or the conformation of the protein. In addition to modifying APP per se, high glucose could also affect APP metabolism through regulating molecular chaperones that interact with APP such as glucose-regulated protein 78 (Yang et al., 1998b), C-terminus Hsp70 interacting protein (Kumar et al., 2007) and ubiquilin-1(Stieren et al., 2011). These cytosolic and endoplasmic reticulum chaperones are able to both stabilize and promote degradation of APP, and thus have a significant impact on APP processing and A^β production (Hoshino et al., 2007; Kumar et al., 2007; Stieren et al., 2011).

AD is associated with build-up of disease-relevant proteins resulting from malfunction of protein degradation system (Morawe et al., 2012). Increased APP is found in AD brains compared with controls (Preece et al., 2004). On the other hand, excessive APP is known to be able to cause AD. APP overexpression either through gene duplication or mutations in *APP* promoter causes early-onset AD (Brouwers et al., 2006; Rovelet-Lecrux et al., 2006). Moreover, the level of APP expression has been found to be inversely correlated with the age of disease onset (Brouwers et al., 2006). Our results show that the impaired degradation of APP is involved in the increase of APP protein after high glucose treatment. Thus, compromised removal of APP protein and enhanced A β production induced by high glucose may serve as a molecular link between diabetes and Alzheimer's disease.

The physiological function of APP is still unclear. APP has been suggested to be involved in diverse cellular processes such as cell adhesion, axon pruning and synaptogenesis. Interestingly, one study, with closer relevance to our study, suggests APP could regulate plasma insulin and glucose as APP knockout mice had higher plasma insulin and lower plasma glucose than the wild-types (Needham et al., 2008). Therefore, it is possible that dysregulated APP level resulted from high blood glucose could exacerbate the hyperglycemic condition in AD patients, forming a vicious loop.

The strong association between Alzheimer's disease and diabetes has been demonstrated by accumulating epidemiological and experimental evidences with many underlying mechanisms

being proposed. Our study investigated the effect of hyperglycemia on APP metabolism and A β production by using cultured human neuronal-like cells. Our finding showed that high glucose treatment significantly increased the level of full-length APP protein and A β production in cultured cells and the accumulation of APP is not due to enhancement of transcription but through inhibition of APP degradation. The finding of this study revealed a new pathway through which diabetes accelerates the development of AD. Also, our study suggests that incorporation of glucose-lowing treatment could be beneficial for AD patients.

5.2 Future directions

In our study, we clearly showed that high glucose treatment promotes APP expression mediated by inhibition of APP degradation, which might lead to A β overproduction. Yet, other mechanisms might also be involved in high glucose induced abnormal APP processing and A β generation. For example, high glucose treatment may affect APP processing by modulating the expression and/or activities of enzymes involved. In fact, it has been demonstrated by our lab as well as other groups that oxidative stress can potentiate BACE1 expression and A β production (Quiroz-Baez et al., 2009; Tamagno et al., 2008; Tong et al., 2005). The same effect of oxidative stress is also observed on γ -secretase (Oda et al., 2010). Since chronic hyperglycemia could result in oxidative stress (Vincent et al., 2004), it is very likely that hyperglycemia can exert an impact on BACE1 and γ -secretase as well. Assessment of the effect and the extent of their contribution could be helpful to determine the impact of hyperglycemia on AD pathogenesis in a broader view. In addition, as mentioned before, since APP trafficking plays an important role in amyloidogenic processing, examination of the localization and trafficking dynamics of APP under high glucose exposure will provide better understanding of the underlying mechanism.

It will also be informative to examine the pathological consequences of elevated APP and A β under hyperglycemia. Previous studies identified a mitochondrial targeting signal at the N-terminus of APP protein and suggested that the accumulation of APP in mitochondria could lead to mitochondrial dysfunction (Anandatheerthavarada et al., 2003; Devi et al., 2006). Accordingly, while mitochondrial APP is very low in control brains, it is present in significantly higher level in AD brains (Devi et al., 2006). Moreover, in both transgenic mice and AD patients, A β can directly interact with A β -binding alcohol dehydrogenase in the mitochondria resulting in generation of ROS, mitochondrial dysfunction and cell death (Lustbader et al., 2004). Therefore, it might be interesting to examine the interaction between mitochondria and APP and A β in our system.

Furthermore, *in vivo* studies by using experimental animals would provide us with deeper insight into the effect of hyperglycemia on AD pathogenesis and underlying mechanisms.

References

- Abe, K., St George-Hyslop, P.H., Tanzi, R.E., and Kogure, K. (1991). Induction of amyloid precursor protein mRNA after heat shock in cultured human lymphoblastoid cells. Neurosci Lett 125, 169-171.
- Abi-Saab, W.M., Maggs, D.G., Jones, T., Jacob, R., Srihari, V., Thompson, J., Kerr, D., Leone, P., Krystal, J.H., Spencer, D.D., et al. (2002). Striking differences in glucose and lactate levels between brain extracellular fluid and plasma in conscious human subjects: effects of hyperglycemia and hypoglycemia. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab 22, 271-279.
- Adolfsson, R., Gottfries, C.G., Roos, B.E., and Winblad, B. (1979). Changes in the brain catecholamines in patients with dementia of Alzheimer type. Br J Psychiatry 135, 216-223.
- Aizenstein, H.J., Nebes, R.D., Saxton, J.A., Price, J.C., Mathis, C.A., Tsopelas, N.D., Ziolko, S.K., James, J.A., Snitz, B.E., Houck, P.R., et al. (2008). Frequent amyloid deposition without significant cognitive impairment among the elderly. Arch Neurol 65, 1509-1517.
- Akisaki, T., Sakurai, T., Takata, T., Umegaki, H., Araki, A., Mizuno, S., Tanaka, S., Ohashi, Y., Iguchi, A., Yokono, K., et al. (2006). Cognitive dysfunction associates with white matter hyperintensities and subcortical atrophy on magnetic resonance imaging of the elderly diabetes mellitus Japanese elderly diabetes intervention trial (J-EDIT). Diabetes Metab Res Rev 22, 376-384.
- Allinquant, B., Hantraye, P., Mailleux, P., Moya, K., Bouillot, C., and Prochiantz, A. (1995). Downregulation of amyloid precursor protein inhibits neurite outgrowth in vitro. J Cell Biol 128, 919-927.
- Alzheimer, A. (1907). Uber einen eigenartige Erkranung der Hirnrinde. Allgemeine Zeitschrift fur Psychiatrie und Psychisch-Gerichtisch Medizin 64, 146–148.
- Anandatheerthavarada, H.K., Biswas, G., Robin, M.A., and Avadhani, N.G. (2003). Mitochondrial targeting and a novel transmembrane arrest of Alzheimer's amyloid precursor protein impairs mitochondrial function in neuronal cells. J Cell Biol 161, 41-54.
- Andersen, O.M., Reiche, J., Schmidt, V., Gotthardt, M., Spoelgen, R., Behlke, J., von Arnim, C.A., Breiderhoff, T., Jansen, P., Wu, X., et al. (2005). Neuronal sorting protein-related receptor sorLA/LR11 regulates processing of the amyloid precursor protein. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 102, 13461-13466.
- Ando, K., Oishi, M., Takeda, S., Iijima, K., Isohara, T., Nairn, A.C., Kirino, Y., Greengard, P., and Suzuki, T. (1999). Role of phosphorylation of Alzheimer's amyloid precursor protein during neuronal differentiation. J Neurosci 19, 4421-4427.
- Arvanitakis, Z., Wilson, R.S., Bienias, J.L., Evans, D.A., and Bennett, D.A. (2004). Diabetes mellitus and risk of Alzheimer disease and decline in cognitive function. Arch Neurol 61, 661-666.
- Asai, M., Hattori, C., Szabo, B., Sasagawa, N., Maruyama, K., Tanuma, S., and Ishiura, S. (2003). Putative function of ADAM9, ADAM10, and ADAM17 as APP alpha-secretase. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 301, 231-235.
- Ashley, J., Packard, M., Ataman, B., and Budnik, V. (2005). Fasciclin II signals new synapse formation through amyloid precursor protein and the scaffolding protein dX11/Mint. J Neurosci 25, 5943-5955.
- Ballard, C., Gauthier, S., Corbett, A., Brayne, C., Aarsland, D., and Jones, E. (2011). Alzheimer's disease. Lancet 377, 1019-1031.
- Bandyopadhyay, S., Goldstein, L.E., Lahiri, D.K., and Rogers, J.T. (2007). Role of the APP non-amyloidogenic signaling pathway and targeting alpha-secretase as an alternative drug target for

treatment of Alzheimer's disease. Curr Med Chem 14, 2848-2864.

- Benilova, I., Karran, E., and De Strooper, B. (2012). The toxic Abeta oligomer and Alzheimer's disease: an emperor in need of clothes. Nat Neurosci 15, 349-357.
- Benjannet, S., Elagoz, A., Wickham, L., Mamarbachi, M., Munzer, J.S., Basak, A., Lazure, C., Cromlish, J.A., Sisodia, S., Checler, F., et al. (2001). Post-translational processing of beta-secretase (beta-amyloid-converting enzyme) and its ectodomain shedding. The pro- and transmembrane/cytosolic domains affect its cellular activity and amyloid-beta production. J Biol Chem 276, 10879-10887.
- Bennett, B.D., Denis, P., Haniu, M., Teplow, D.B., Kahn, S., Louis, J.C., Citron, M., and Vassar, R. (2000). A furin-like convertase mediates propeptide cleavage of BACE, the Alzheimer's beta -secretase. J Biol Chem 275, 37712-37717.
- Bentahir, M., Nyabi, O., Verhamme, J., Tolia, A., Horre, K., Wiltfang, J., Esselmann, H., and De Strooper, B. (2006). Presenilin clinical mutations can affect gamma-secretase activity by different mechanisms. J Neurochem 96, 732-742.
- Berbaum, K., Shanmugam, K., Stuchbury, G., Wiede, F., Korner, H., and Munch, G. (2008). Induction of novel cytokines and chemokines by advanced glycation endproducts determined with a cytometric bead array. Cytokine 41, 198-203.
- Bertram, L., and Tanzi, R.E. (2008). Thirty years of Alzheimer's disease genetics: the implications of systematic meta-analyses. Nat Rev Neurosci 9, 768-778.
- Biessels, G.J., Kamal, A., Ramakers, G.M., Urban, I.J., Spruijt, B.M., Erkelens, D.W., and Gispen, W.H. (1996). Place learning and hippocampal synaptic plasticity in streptozotocin-induced diabetic rats. Diabetes 45, 1259-1266.
- Biessels, G.J., Staekenborg, S., Brunner, E., Brayne, C., and Scheltens, P. (2006). Risk of dementia in diabetes mellitus: a systematic review. Lancet Neurol 5, 64-74.
- Birnbaum, M.J., Haspel, H.C., and Rosen, O.M. (1986). Cloning and characterization of a cDNA encoding the rat brain glucose-transporter protein. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 83, 5784-5788.
- Blokland, A., and Raaijmakers, W. (1993). Age-related changes in correlation between behavioral and biochemical parameters in Lewis rats. Behav Neural Biol 60, 52-61.
- Boileau, P., Mrejen, C., Girard, J., and Hauguel-de Mouzon, S. (1995). Overexpression of GLUT3 placental glucose transporter in diabetic rats. J Clin Invest 96, 309-317.
- Bondy, C.A., Lee, W.H., and Zhou, J. (1992). Ontogeny and cellular distribution of brain glucose transporter gene expression. Mol Cell Neurosci 3, 305-314.
- Borchelt, D.R., Thinakaran, G., Eckman, C.B., Lee, M.K., Davenport, F., Ratovitsky, T., Prada, C.M., Kim, G., Seekins, S., Yager, D., et al. (1996). Familial Alzheimer's disease-linked presenilin 1 variants elevate Abeta1-42/1-40 ratio in vitro and in vivo. Neuron 17, 1005-1013.
- Brands, A.M., Biessels, G.J., de Haan, E.H., Kappelle, L.J., and Kessels, R.P. (2005). The effects of type 1 diabetes on cognitive performance: a meta-analysis. Diabetes Care 28, 726-735.
- Brouwers, N., Sleegers, K., Engelborghs, S., Bogaerts, V., Serneels, S., Kamali, K., Corsmit, E., De Leenheir, E., Martin, J.J., De Deyn, P.P., et al. (2006). Genetic risk and transcriptional variability of amyloid precursor protein in Alzheimer's disease. Brain 129, 2984-2991.
- Bucala, R., and Cerami, A. (1992). Advanced glycosylation: chemistry, biology, and implications for diabetes and aging. Adv Pharmacol 23, 1-34.

- Buxbaum, J.D., Liu, K.N., Luo, Y., Slack, J.L., Stocking, K.L., Peschon, J.J., Johnson, R.S., Castner, B.J., Cerretti, D.P., and Black, R.A. (1998). Evidence that tumor necrosis factor alpha converting enzyme is involved in regulated alpha-secretase cleavage of the Alzheimer amyloid protein precursor. J Biol Chem 273, 27765-27767.
- Cai, H., Wang, Y., McCarthy, D., Wen, H., Borchelt, D.R., Price, D.L., and Wong, P.C. (2001). BACE1 is the major beta-secretase for generation of Abeta peptides by neurons. Nat Neurosci 4, 233-234.
- Cai, X.D., Golde, T.E., and Younkin, S.G. (1993). Release of excess amyloid beta protein from a mutant amyloid beta protein precursor. Science 259, 514-516.
- Cao, X., and Sudhof, T.C. (2001). A transcriptionally [correction of transcriptively] active complex of APP with Fe65 and histone acetyltransferase Tip60. Science 293, 115-120.
- Capell, A., Steiner, H., Willem, M., Kaiser, H., Meyer, C., Walter, J., Lammich, S., Multhaup, G., and Haass, C. (2000). Maturation and pro-peptide cleavage of beta-secretase. J Biol Chem 275, 30849-30854.
- Caporaso, G.L., Gandy, S.E., Buxbaum, J.D., and Greengard, P. (1992). Chloroquine inhibits intracellular degradation but not secretion of Alzheimer beta/A4 amyloid precursor protein. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 89, 2252-2256.
- Caporaso, G.L., Takei, K., Gandy, S.E., Matteoli, M., Mundigl, O., Greengard, P., and De Camilli, P. (1994). Morphologic and biochemical analysis of the intracellular trafficking of the Alzheimer beta/A4 amyloid precursor protein. J Neurosci 14, 3122-3138.
- Carantoni, M., Zuliani, G., Munari, M.R., D'Elia, K., Palmieri, E., and Fellin, R. (2000). Alzheimer disease and vascular dementia: relationships with fasting glucose and insulin levels. Dement Geriatr Cogn Disord 11, 176-180.
- Castellano, J.M., Kim, J., Stewart, F.R., Jiang, H., DeMattos, R.B., Patterson, B.W., Fagan, A.M., Morris, J.C., Mawuenyega, K.G., Cruchaga, C., et al. (2011). Human apoE isoforms differentially regulate brain amyloid-beta peptide clearance. Sci Transl Med 3, 89ra57.
- Charlwood, J., Dingwall, C., Matico, R., Hussain, I., Johanson, K., Moore, S., Powell, D.J., Skehel, J.M., Ratcliffe, S., Clarke, B., et al. (2001). Characterization of the glycosylation profiles of Alzheimer's beta -secretase protein Asp-2 expressed in a variety of cell lines. J Biol Chem 276, 16739-16748.
- Chiti, F., and Dobson, C.M. (2006). Protein misfolding, functional amyloid, and human disease. Annu Rev Biochem 75, 333-366.
- Citron, M., Oltersdorf, T., Haass, C., McConlogue, L., Hung, A.Y., Seubert, P., Vigo-Pelfrey, C., Lieberburg, I., and Selkoe, D.J. (1992). Mutation of the beta-amyloid precursor protein in familial Alzheimer's disease increases beta-protein production. Nature 360, 672-674.
- Citron, M., Westaway, D., Xia, W., Carlson, G., Diehl, T., Levesque, G., Johnson-Wood, K., Lee, M., Seubert, P., Davis, A., et al. (1997). Mutant presenilins of Alzheimer's disease increase production of 42-residue amyloid beta-protein in both transfected cells and transgenic mice. Nat Med 3, 67-72.
- Clark, A., Wells, C.A., Buley, I.D., Cruickshank, J.K., Vanhegan, R.I., Matthews, D.R., Cooper, G.J., Holman, R.R., and Turner, R.C. (1988). Islet amyloid, increased A-cells, reduced B-cells and exocrine fibrosis: quantitative changes in the pancreas in type 2 diabetes. Diabetes Res 9, 151-159.
- Cooper, G.J., Willis, A.C., Clark, A., Turner, R.C., Sim, R.B., and Reid, K.B. (1987). Purification and characterization of a peptide from amyloid-rich pancreases of type 2 diabetic patients. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 84, 8628-8632.

- Corder, E.H., Saunders, A.M., Strittmatter, W.J., Schmechel, D.E., Gaskell, P.C., Small, G.W., Roses, A.D., Haines, J.L., and Pericak-Vance, M.A. (1993). Gene dose of apolipoprotein E type 4 allele and the risk of Alzheimer's disease in late onset families. Science 261, 921-923.
- Craft, S., Dagogo-Jack, S.E., Wiethop, B.V., Murphy, C., Nevins, R.T., Fleischman, S., Rice, V., Newcomer, J.W., and Cryer, P.E. (1993). Effects of hyperglycemia on memory and hormone levels in dementia of the Alzheimer type: a longitudinal study. Behav Neurosci 107, 926-940.
- Craik, J.D., Stewart, M., and Cheeseman, C.I. (1995). GLUT-3 (brain-type) glucose transporter polypeptides in human blood platelets. Thromb Res 79, 461-469.
- Creemers, J.W., Ines Dominguez, D., Plets, E., Serneels, L., Taylor, N.A., Multhaup, G., Craessaerts, K., Annaert, W., and De Strooper, B. (2001). Processing of beta-secretase by furin and other members of the proprotein convertase family. J Biol Chem 276, 4211-4217.
- Cukierman, T., Gerstein, H.C., and Williamson, J.D. (2005). Cognitive decline and dementia in diabetes--systematic overview of prospective observational studies. Diabetologia 48, 2460-2469.
- Cunnane, S., Nugent, S., Roy, M., Courchesne-Loyer, A., Croteau, E., Tremblay, S., Castellano, A., Pifferi, F., Bocti, C., Paquet, N., et al. (2011). Brain fuel metabolism, aging, and Alzheimer's disease. Nutrition 27, 3-20.
- D. Goldgaber, D.E.S., W.F. Odenwald (1991). Hox-1.3, amyloid β-protein precursor and aging Brain ResRev 16, 89-91.
- Daigle, I., and Li, C. (1993). apl-1, a Caenorhabditis elegans gene encoding a protein related to the human beta-amyloid protein precursor. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 90, 12045-12049.
- De Strooper, B. (2003). Aph-1, Pen-2, and Nicastrin with Presenilin generate an active gamma-Secretase complex. Neuron 38, 9-12.
- De Strooper, B. (2010). Proteases and proteolysis in Alzheimer disease: a multifactorial view on the disease process. Physiol Rev 90, 465-494.
- De Strooper, B., and Annaert, W. (2000). Proteolytic processing and cell biological functions of the amyloid precursor protein. J Cell Sci 113 (Pt 11), 1857-1870.
- De Strooper, B., Annaert, W., Cupers, P., Saftig, P., Craessaerts, K., Mumm, J.S., Schroeter, E.H., Schrijvers, V., Wolfe, M.S., Ray, W.J., et al. (1999). A presenilin-1-dependent gamma-secretase-like protease mediates release of Notch intracellular domain. Nature 398, 518-522.
- De Strooper, B., Saftig, P., Craessaerts, K., Vanderstichele, H., Guhde, G., Annaert, W., Von Figura, K., and Van Leuven, F. (1998). Deficiency of presenilin-1 inhibits the normal cleavage of amyloid precursor protein. Nature 391, 387-390.
- Dejaegere, T., Serneels, L., Schafer, M.K., Van Biervliet, J., Horre, K., Depboylu, C., Alvarez-Fischer, D., Herreman, A., Willem, M., Haass, C., et al. (2008). Deficiency of Aph1B/C-gamma-secretase disturbs Nrg1 cleavage and sensorimotor gating that can be reversed with antipsychotic treatment. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 105, 9775-9780.
- Devi, L., Prabhu, B.M., Galati, D.F., Avadhani, N.G., and Anandatheerthavarada, H.K. (2006). Accumulation of amyloid precursor protein in the mitochondrial import channels of human Alzheimer's disease brain is associated with mitochondrial dysfunction. J Neurosci 26, 9057-9068.
- Dewji, N.N., Do, C., and Bayney, R.M. (1995). Transcriptional activation of Alzheimer's beta-amyloid precursor protein gene by stress. Brain Res Mol Brain Res 33, 245-253.

- Dominguez, D., Tournoy, J., Hartmann, D., Huth, T., Cryns, K., Deforce, S., Serneels, L., Camacho, I.E., Marjaux, E., Craessaerts, K., et al. (2005). Phenotypic and biochemical analyses of BACE1- and BACE2-deficient mice. J Biol Chem 280, 30797-30806.
- Donath, M.Y., and Shoelson, S.E. (2011). Type 2 diabetes as an inflammatory disease. Nat Rev Immunol 11, 98-107.
- Donoviel, D.B., Hadjantonakis, A.K., Ikeda, M., Zheng, H., Hyslop, P.S., and Bernstein, A. (1999). Mice lacking both presenilin genes exhibit early embryonic patterning defects. Genes Dev 13, 2801-2810.
- Duff, K., Eckman, C., Zehr, C., Yu, X., Prada, C.M., Perez-tur, J., Hutton, M., Buee, L., Harigaya, Y., Yager, D., et al. (1996). Increased amyloid-beta42(43) in brains of mice expressing mutant presenilin 1. Nature 383, 710-713.
- Edbauer, D., Winkler, E., Regula, J.T., Pesold, B., Steiner, H., and Haass, C. (2003). Reconstitution of gamma-secretase activity. Nat Cell Biol 5, 486-488.
- Eggert, S., Paliga, K., Soba, P., Evin, G., Masters, C.L., Weidemann, A., and Beyreuther, K. (2004). The proteolytic processing of the amyloid precursor protein gene family members APLP-1 and APLP-2 involves alpha-, beta-, gamma-, and epsilon-like cleavages: modulation of APLP-1 processing by n-glycosylation. J Biol Chem 279, 18146-18156.
- Ehehalt, R., Michel, B., De Pietri Tonelli, D., Zacchetti, D., Simons, K., and Keller, P. (2002). Splice variants of the beta-site APP-cleaving enzyme BACE1 in human brain and pancreas. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 293, 30-37.
- El Ayadi, A., Stieren, E.S., Barral, J.M., and Boehning, D. (2012). Ubiquilin-1 regulates amyloid precursor protein maturation and degradation by stimulating K63-linked polyubiquitination of lysine 688. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 109, 13416-13421.
- Esch, F.S., Keim, P.S., Beattie, E.C., Blacher, R.W., Culwell, A.R., Oltersdorf, T., McClure, D., and Ward, P.J. (1990). Cleavage of amyloid beta peptide during constitutive processing of its precursor. Science 248, 1122-1124.
- Essen-Moeller, E. (1946). A family with Alzheimer's disease. Acta Psychiatr Neurol 21, 233-244.
- Evans, D.A., Funkenstein, H.H., Albert, M.S., Scherr, P.A., Cook, N.R., Chown, M.J., Hebert, L.E., Hennekens, C.H., and Taylor, J.O. (1989). Prevalence of Alzheimer's disease in a community population of older persons. Higher than previously reported. JAMA 262, 2551-2556.
- Farag, Y.M., and Gaballa, M.R. (2011). Diabesity: an overview of a rising epidemic. Nephrol Dial Transplant 26, 28-35.
- Folmer, V., Soares, J.C., and Rocha, J.B. (2002). Oxidative stress in mice is dependent on the free glucose content of the diet. Int J Biochem Cell Biol 34, 1279-1285.
- Foster, N.L., Chase, T.N., Mansi, L., Brooks, R., Fedio, P., Patronas, N.J., and Di Chiro, G. (1984). Cortical abnormalities in Alzheimer's disease. Ann Neurol 16, 649-654.
- Francis, R., McGrath, G., Zhang, J., Ruddy, D.A., Sym, M., Apfeld, J., Nicoll, M., Maxwell, M., Hai, B., Ellis, M.C., et al. (2002). aph-1 and pen-2 are required for Notch pathway signaling, gamma-secretase cleavage of betaAPP, and presenilin protein accumulation. Dev Cell 3, 85-97.
- Friedland, R.P., Budinger, T.F., Koss, E., and Ober, B.A. (1985). Alzheimer's disease: anterior-posterior and lateral hemispheric alterations in cortical glucose utilization. Neurosci Lett 53, 235-240.
- Gabbita, S.P., Lovell, M.A., and Markesbery, W.R. (1998). Increased nuclear DNA oxidation in the brain in

Alzheimer's disease. J Neurochem 71, 2034-2040.

- Georgopoulou, N., McLaughlin, M., McFarlane, I., and Breen, K.C. (2001). The role of post-translational modification in beta-amyloid precursor protein processing. Biochem Soc Symp, 23-36.
- Giannakopoulos, P., Herrmann, F.R., Bussiere, T., Bouras, C., Kovari, E., Perl, D.P., Morrison, J.H., Gold, G., and Hof, P.R. (2003). Tangle and neuron numbers, but not amyloid load, predict cognitive status in Alzheimer's disease. Neurology 60, 1495-1500.
- Glenner, G.G. (1983). Alzheimer's disease. The commonest form of amyloidosis. Arch Pathol Lab Med 107, 281-282.
- Glenner, G.G., and Wong, C.W. (1984a). Alzheimer's disease and Down's syndrome: sharing of a unique cerebrovascular amyloid fibril protein. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 122, 1131-1135.
- Glenner, G.G., and Wong, C.W. (1984b). Alzheimer's disease: initial report of the purification and characterization of a novel cerebrovascular amyloid protein. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 120, 885-890.
- Goate, A., Chartier-Harlin, M.C., Mullan, M., Brown, J., Crawford, F., Fidani, L., Giuffra, L., Haynes, A., Irving, N., James, L., et al. (1991). Segregation of a missense mutation in the amyloid precursor protein gene with familial Alzheimer's disease. Nature 349, 704-706.
- Goedert, M., Wischik, C.M., Crowther, R.A., Walker, J.E., and Klug, A. (1988). Cloning and sequencing of the cDNA encoding a core protein of the paired helical filament of Alzheimer disease: identification as the microtubule-associated protein tau. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 85, 4051-4055.
- Goldgaber, D., Harris, H.W., Hla, T., Maciag, T., Donnelly, R.J., Jacobsen, J.S., Vitek, M.P., and Gajdusek, D.C. (1989). Interleukin 1 regulates synthesis of amyloid beta-protein precursor mRNA in human endothelial cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 86, 7606-7610.
- Goldgaber, D., Lerman, M.I., McBride, O.W., Saffiotti, U., and Gajdusek, D.C. (1987). Characterization and chromosomal localization of a cDNA encoding brain amyloid of Alzheimer's disease. Science 235, 877-880.
- Gomez-Isla, T., Hollister, R., West, H., Mui, S., Growdon, J.H., Petersen, R.C., Parisi, J.E., and Hyman, B.T. (1997). Neuronal loss correlates with but exceeds neurofibrillary tangles in Alzheimer's disease. Ann Neurol 41, 17-24.
- Gomez-Isla, T., Price, J.L., McKeel, D.W., Jr., Morris, J.C., Growdon, J.H., and Hyman, B.T. (1996). Profound loss of layer II entorhinal cortex neurons occurs in very mild Alzheimer's disease. J Neurosci 16, 4491-4500.
- Goutte, C., Tsunozaki, M., Hale, V.A., and Priess, J.R. (2002). APH-1 is a multipass membrane protein essential for the Notch signaling pathway in Caenorhabditis elegans embryos. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 99, 775-779.
- Grilli, M., Ribola, M., Alberici, A., Valerio, A., Memo, M., and Spano, P. (1995). Identification and characterization of a kappa B/Rel binding site in the regulatory region of the amyloid precursor protein gene. J Biol Chem 270, 26774-26777.
- Grundke-Iqbal, I., Iqbal, K., Quinlan, M., Tung, Y.C., Zaidi, M.S., and Wisniewski, H.M. (1986). Microtubule-associated protein tau. A component of Alzheimer paired helical filaments. Journal of Biological Chemistry 261, 6084-6089.
- Haataja, L., Gurlo, T., Huang, C.J., and Butler, P.C. (2008). Islet amyloid in type 2 diabetes, and the toxic

oligomer hypothesis. Endocr Rev 29, 303-316.

- Haniu, M., Denis, P., Young, Y., Mendiaz, E.A., Fuller, J., Hui, J.O., Bennett, B.D., Kahn, S., Ross, S., Burgess, T., et al. (2000). Characterization of Alzheimer's beta -secretase protein BACE. A pepsin family member with unusual properties. J Biol Chem 275, 21099-21106.
- Hardy, J., and Allsop, D. (1991). Amyloid deposition as the central event in the aetiology of Alzheimer's disease. Trends Pharmacol Sci 12, 383-388.
- Hardy, J., Cowburn, R., Barton, A., Reynolds, G., Lofdahl, E., O'Carroll, A.M., Wester, P., and Winblad, B. (1987). Region-specific loss of glutamate innervation in Alzheimer's disease. Neurosci Lett 73, 77-80.
- Hardy, J., and Selkoe, D.J. (2002). The amyloid hypothesis of Alzheimer's disease: progress and problems on the road to therapeutics. Science 297, 353-356.
- Hardy, J.A., and Higgins, G.A. (1992). Alzheimer's disease: the amyloid cascade hypothesis. Science 256, 184-185.
- Hare, J.F. (2006). Intracellular pathways of folded and misfolded amyloid precursor protein degradation. Archives of Biochemistry and Biophysics 451, 79-90.
- Harik, S.I., Kalaria, R.N., Andersson, L., Lundahl, P., and Perry, G. (1990). Immunocytochemical localization of the erythroid glucose transporter: abundance in tissues with barrier functions. J Neurosci 10, 3862-3872.
- Harold, D., Abraham, R., Hollingworth, P., Sims, R., Gerrish, A., Hamshere, M.L., Pahwa, J.S., Moskvina, V., Dowzell, K., Williams, A., et al. (2009). Genome-wide association study identifies variants at CLU and PICALM associated with Alzheimer's disease. Nat Genet 41, 1088-1093.
- Harris, J.R., and Milton, N.G. (2010). Cholesterol in Alzheimer's disease and other amyloidogenic disorders. Subcell Biochem 51, 47-75.
- Hartmann, D., de Strooper, B., Serneels, L., Craessaerts, K., Herreman, A., Annaert, W., Umans, L., Lubke, T., Lena Illert, A., von Figura, K., et al. (2002). The disintegrin/metalloprotease ADAM 10 is essential for Notch signalling but not for alpha-secretase activity in fibroblasts. Hum Mol Genet 11, 2615-2624.
- Heber, S., Herms, J., Gajic, V., Hainfellner, J., Aguzzi, A., Rulicke, T., von Kretzschmar, H., von Koch, C., Sisodia, S., Tremml, P., et al. (2000). Mice with combined gene knock-outs reveal essential and partially redundant functions of amyloid precursor protein family members. J Neurosci 20, 7951-7963.
- Hebert, S.S., Serneels, L., Tolia, A., Craessaerts, K., Derks, C., Filippov, M.A., Muller, U., and De Strooper, B. (2006). Regulated intramembrane proteolysis of amyloid precursor protein and regulation of expression of putative target genes. EMBO Rep 7, 739-745.
- Herms, J., Anliker, B., Heber, S., Ring, S., Fuhrmann, M., Kretzschmar, H., Sisodia, S., and Muller, U. (2004). Cortical dysplasia resembling human type 2 lissencephaly in mice lacking all three APP family members. EMBO J 23, 4106-4115.
- Herreman, A., Hartmann, D., Annaert, W., Saftig, P., Craessaerts, K., Serneels, L., Umans, L., Schrijvers, V., Checler, F., Vanderstichele, H., et al. (1999). Presenilin 2 deficiency causes a mild pulmonary phenotype and no changes in amyloid precursor protein processing but enhances the embryonic lethal phenotype of presenilin 1 deficiency. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 96, 11872-11877.
- Herreman, A., Serneels, L., Annaert, W., Collen, D., Schoonjans, L., and De Strooper, B. (2000). Total inactivation of gamma-secretase activity in presenilin-deficient embryonic stem cells. Nat Cell Biol 2, 461-462.

- Ho, A., and Sudhof, T.C. (2004). Binding of F-spondin to amyloid-beta precursor protein: a candidate amyloid-beta precursor protein ligand that modulates amyloid-beta precursor protein cleavage. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 101, 2548-2553.
- Hollingworth, P., Harold, D., Sims, R., Gerrish, A., Lambert, J.C., Carrasquillo, M.M., Abraham, R., Hamshere, M.L., Pahwa, J.S., Moskvina, V., et al. (2011). Common variants at ABCA7, MS4A6A/MS4A4E, EPHA1, CD33 and CD2AP are associated with Alzheimer's disease. Nat Genet 43, 429-435.
- Holtzman, D.M., Bales, K.R., Tenkova, T., Fagan, A.M., Parsadanian, M., Sartorius, L.J., Mackey, B., Olney, J., McKeel, D., Wozniak, D., et al. (2000). Apolipoprotein E isoform-dependent amyloid deposition and neuritic degeneration in a mouse model of Alzheimer's disease. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 97, 2892-2897.
- Hoshino, T., Nakaya, T., Araki, W., Suzuki, K., Suzuki, T., and Mizushima, T. (2007). Endoplasmic reticulum chaperones inhibit the production of amyloid-beta peptides. Biochem J 402, 581-589.
- Hoyer, S. (2004). Glucose metabolism and insulin receptor signal transduction in Alzheimer disease. Eur J Pharmacol 490, 115-125.
- Hu, X., He, W., Diaconu, C., Tang, X., Kidd, G.J., Macklin, W.B., Trapp, B.D., and Yan, R. (2008). Genetic deletion of BACE1 in mice affects remyelination of sciatic nerves. FASEB J 22, 2970-2980.
- Hu, X., Hicks, C.W., He, W., Wong, P., Macklin, W.B., Trapp, B.D., and Yan, R. (2006). Bace1 modulates myelination in the central and peripheral nervous system. Nat Neurosci 9, 1520-1525.
- Hu, X., Zhou, X., He, W., Yang, J., Xiong, W., Wong, P., Wilson, C.G., and Yan, R. (2010). BACE1 deficiency causes altered neuronal activity and neurodegeneration. J Neurosci 30, 8819-8829.
- Huse, J.T., Byant, D., Yang, Y., Pijak, D.S., D'Souza, I., Lah, J.J., Lee, V.M., Doms, R.W., and Cook, D.G. (2003). Endoproteolysis of beta-secretase (beta-site amyloid precursor protein-cleaving enzyme) within its catalytic domain. A potential mechanism for regulation. J Biol Chem 278, 17141-17149.
- Hussain, I., Powell, D., Howlett, D.R., Tew, D.G., Meek, T.D., Chapman, C., Gloger, I.S., Murphy, K.E., Southan, C.D., Ryan, D.M., et al. (1999). Identification of a novel aspartic protease (Asp 2) as beta-secretase. Mol Cell Neurosci 14, 419-427.
- Hutton, M., Lendon, C.L., Rizzu, P., Baker, M., Froelich, S., Houlden, H., Pickering-Brown, S., Chakraverty, S., Isaacs, A., Grover, A., et al. (1998). Association of missense and 5'-splice-site mutations in tau with the inherited dementia FTDP-17. Nature 393, 702-705.
- Iqbal, K., Grundke-Iqbal, I., Smith, A.J., George, L., Tung, Y.C., and Zaidi, T. (1989). Identification and localization of a tau peptide to paired helical filaments of Alzheimer disease. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 86, 5646-5650.
- Itoh, T., Satou, T., Nishida, S., Tsubaki, M., Hashimoto, S., and Ito, H. (2009). Expression of amyloid precursor protein after rat traumatic brain injury. Neurol Res 31, 103-109.
- Jagusch, W., Voncramon, D.Y., Renner, R., and Hepp, K.D. (1992). Cognitive function and metabolic state in elderly diabetic patients. Diabetes Nutr Metab 5, 265-274.
- Janson, J., Laedtke, T., Parisi, J.E., O'Brien, P., Petersen, R.C., and Butler, P.C. (2004). Increased risk of type 2 diabetes in Alzheimer disease. Diabetes 53, 474-481.
- Jolivalt, C.G., Hurford, R., Lee, C.A., Dumaop, W., Rockenstein, E., and Masliah, E. (2010). Type 1 diabetes exaggerates features of Alzheimer's disease in APP transgenic mice. Exp Neurol 223, 422-431.
- Kalaria, R.N., Gravina, S.A., Schmidley, J.W., Perry, G., and Harik, S.I. (1988). The glucose transporter of the

human brain and blood-brain barrier. Ann Neurol 24, 757-764.

- Kalmijn, S., Feskens, E.J., Launer, L.J., Stijnen, T., and Kromhout, D. (1995). Glucose intolerance, hyperinsulinaemia and cognitive function in a general population of elderly men. Diabetologia 38, 1096-1102.
- Kaneko, M., Koike, H., Saito, R., Kitamura, Y., Okuma, Y., and Nomura, Y. (2010). Loss of HRD1-mediated protein degradation causes amyloid precursor protein accumulation and amyloid-beta generation. J Neurosci 30, 3924-3932.
- Kang, J., Lemaire, H.G., Unterbeck, A., Salbaum, J.M., Masters, C.L., Grzeschik, K.H., Multhaup, G., Beyreuther, K., and Muller-Hill, B. (1987). The precursor of Alzheimer's disease amyloid A4 protein resembles a cell-surface receptor. Nature 325, 733-736.
- Karran, E., Mercken, M., and De Strooper, B. (2011). The amyloid cascade hypothesis for Alzheimer's disease: an appraisal for the development of therapeutics. Nat Rev Drug Discov 10, 698-712.
- Kayano, T., Fukumoto, H., Eddy, R.L., Fan, Y.S., Byers, M.G., Shows, T.B., and Bell, G.I. (1988). Evidence for a family of human glucose transporter-like proteins. Sequence and gene localization of a protein expressed in fetal skeletal muscle and other tissues. J Biol Chem 263, 15245-15248.
- Ke, Y.D., Delerue, F., Gladbach, A., Gotz, J., and Ittner, L.M. (2009). Experimental diabetes mellitus exacerbates tau pathology in a transgenic mouse model of Alzheimer's disease. PLoS One 4, e7917.
- Kibbey, M.C., Jucker, M., Weeks, B.S., Neve, R.L., Van Nostrand, W.E., and Kleinman, H.K. (1993). beta-Amyloid precursor protein binds to the neurite-promoting IKVAV site of laminin. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 90, 10150-10153.
- Kidd, M. (1963). Paired helical filaments in electron microscopy of Alzheimer's disease. Nature 197, 192-193.
- Kim, D.Y., Carey, B.W., Wang, H., Ingano, L.A., Binshtok, A.M., Wertz, M.H., Pettingell, W.H., He, P., Lee, V.M., Woolf, C.J., et al. (2007). BACE1 regulates voltage-gated sodium channels and neuronal activity. Nat Cell Biol 9, 755-764.
- Kim, D.Y., Gersbacher, M.T., Inquimbert, P., and Kovacs, D.M. (2011). Reduced sodium channel Na(v)1.1 levels in BACE1-null mice. J Biol Chem 286, 8106-8116.
- Kimberly, W.T., LaVoie, M.J., Ostaszewski, B.L., Ye, W., Wolfe, M.S., and Selkoe, D.J. (2003). Gamma-secretase is a membrane protein complex comprised of presenilin, nicastrin, Aph-1, and Pen-2. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 100, 6382-6387.
- Kitaguchi, N., Takahashi, Y., Tokushima, Y., Shiojiri, S., and Ito, H. (1988). Novel precursor of Alzheimer's disease amyloid protein shows protease inhibitory activity. Nature 331, 530-532.
- Kitazume, S., Tachida, Y., Oka, R., Shirotani, K., Saido, T.C., and Hashimoto, Y. (2001). Alzheimer's beta-secretase, beta-site amyloid precursor protein-cleaving enzyme, is responsible for cleavage secretion of a Golgi-resident sialyltransferase. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 98, 13554-13559.
- Kleman, A.M., Yuan, J.Y., Aja, S., Ronnett, G.V., and Landree, L.E. (2008). Physiological glucose is critical for optimized neuronal viability and AMPK responsiveness in vitro. J Neurosci Methods 167, 292-301.
- Klip, A., Tsakiridis, T., Marette, A., and Ortiz, P.A. (1994). Regulation of expression of glucose transporters by glucose: a review of studies in vivo and in cell cultures. FASEB J 8, 43-53.
- Knops, J., Lieberburg, I., and Sinha, S. (1992). Evidence for a nonsecretory, acidic degradation pathway for amyloid precursor protein in 293 cells. Identification of a novel, 22-kDa, beta-peptide-containing intermediate. J Biol Chem 267, 16022-16024.

- Koh, Y.H., von Arnim, C.A., Hyman, B.T., Tanzi, R.E., and Tesco, G. (2005). BACE is degraded via the lysosomal pathway. J Biol Chem 280, 32499-32504.
- Koike, H., Tomioka, S., Sorimachi, H., Saido, T.C., Maruyama, K., Okuyama, A., Fujisawa-Sehara, A., Ohno, S., Suzuki, K., and Ishiura, S. (1999). Membrane-anchored metalloprotease MDC9 has an alpha-secretase activity responsible for processing the amyloid precursor protein. Biochem J 343 Pt 2, 371-375.
- Konig, G., Masters, C.L., and Beyreuther, K. (1990). Retinoic acid induced differentiated neuroblastoma cells show increased expression of the beta A4 amyloid gene of Alzheimer's disease and an altered splicing pattern. FEBS Lett 269, 305-310.
- Koo, E.H., Sisodia, S.S., Archer, D.R., Martin, L.J., Weidemann, A., Beyreuther, K., Fischer, P., Masters, C.L., and Price, D.L. (1990). Precursor of amyloid protein in Alzheimer disease undergoes fast anterograde axonal transport. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 87, 1561-1565.
- Kopf, D., and Frolich, L. (2009). Risk of incident Alzheimer's disease in diabetic patients: a systematic review of prospective trials. J Alzheimers Dis 16, 677-685.
- Kosik, K.S., Joachim, C.L., and Selkoe, D.J. (1986). Microtubule-associated protein tau (tau) is a major antigenic component of paired helical filaments in Alzheimer disease. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 83, 4044-4048.
- Kuhn, P.H., Marjaux, E., Imhof, A., De Strooper, B., Haass, C., and Lichtenthaler, S.F. (2007). Regulated intramembrane proteolysis of the interleukin-1 receptor II by alpha-, beta-, and gamma-secretase. J Biol Chem 282, 11982-11995.
- Kumar, P., Ambasta, R.K., Veereshwarayya, V., Rosen, K.M., Kosik, K.S., Band, H., Mestril, R., Patterson, C., and Querfurth, H.W. (2007). CHIP and HSPs interact with beta-APP in a proteasome-dependent manner and influence Abeta metabolism. Hum Mol Genet 16, 848-864.
- La Fauci, G., Lahiri, D.K., Salton, S.R., and Robakis, N.K. (1989). Characterization of the 5'-end region and the first two exons of the beta-protein precursor gene. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 159, 297-304.
- Lahiri, D.K., and Robakis, N.K. (1991). The promoter activity of the gene encoding Alzheimer beta-amyloid precursor protein (APP) is regulated by two blocks of upstream sequences. Brain Res Mol Brain Res 9, 253-257.
- Lai, M.T., Chen, E., Crouthamel, M.C., DiMuzio-Mower, J., Xu, M., Huang, Q., Price, E., Register, R.B., Shi, X.P., Donoviel, D.B., et al. (2003). Presenilin-1 and presenilin-2 exhibit distinct yet overlapping gamma-secretase activities. J Biol Chem 278, 22475-22481.
- Laird, F.M., Cai, H., Savonenko, A.V., Farah, M.H., He, K., Melnikova, T., Wen, H., Chiang, H.C., Xu, G., Koliatsos, V.E., et al. (2005). BACE1, a major determinant of selective vulnerability of the brain to amyloid-beta amyloidogenesis, is essential for cognitive, emotional, and synaptic functions. J Neurosci 25, 11693-11709.
- Lambert, J.C., Heath, S., Even, G., Campion, D., Sleegers, K., Hiltunen, M., Combarros, O., Zelenika, D., Bullido, M.J., Tavernier, B., et al. (2009). Genome-wide association study identifies variants at CLU and CR1 associated with Alzheimer's disease. Nat Genet 41, 1094-1099.
- Lambert, M.P., Barlow, A.K., Chromy, B.A., Edwards, C., Freed, R., Liosatos, M., Morgan, T.E., Rozovsky, I., Trommer, B., Viola, K.L., et al. (1998). Diffusible, nonfibrillar ligands derived from Abeta1-42 are potent central nervous system neurotoxins. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 95, 6448-6453.
- Lammich, S., Kojro, E., Postina, R., Gilbert, S., Pfeiffer, R., Jasionowski, M., Haass, C., and Fahrenholz, F.

(1999). Constitutive and regulated alpha-secretase cleavage of Alzheimer's amyloid precursor protein by a disintegrin metalloprotease. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 96, 3922-3927.

- Langemann, H., Alessandri, B., Mendelowitsch, A., Feuerstein, T., Landolt, H., and Gratzl, O. (2001). Extracellular levels of glucose and lactate measured by quantitative microdialysis in the human brain. Neurol Res 23, 531-536.
- Le Gall, S.M., Bobe, P., Reiss, K., Horiuchi, K., Niu, X.D., Lundell, D., Gibb, D.R., Conrad, D., Saftig, P., and Blobel, C.P. (2009). ADAMs 10 and 17 represent differentially regulated components of a general shedding machinery for membrane proteins such as transforming growth factor alpha, L-selectin, and tumor necrosis factor alpha. Mol Biol Cell 20, 1785-1794.
- LeBlanc, A.C., Kovacs, D.M., Chen, H.Y., Villare, F., Tykocinski, M., Autilio-Gambetti, L., and Gambetti, P. (1992). Role of amyloid precursor protein (APP): study with antisense transfection of human neuroblastoma cells. J Neurosci Res 31, 635-645.
- Lee, E.B., Skovronsky, D.M., Abtahian, F., Doms, R.W., and Lee, V.M. (2003). Secretion and intracellular generation of truncated Abeta in beta-site amyloid-beta precursor protein-cleaving enzyme expressing human neurons. J Biol Chem 278, 4458-4466.
- Lehtovirta, M., Soininen, H., Helisalmi, S., Mannermaa, A., Helkala, E.L., Hartikainen, P., Hanninen, T., Ryynanen, M., and Riekkinen, P.J. (1996). Clinical and neuropsychological characteristics in familial and sporadic Alzheimer's disease: relation to apolipoprotein E polymorphism. Neurology 46, 413-419.
- Leibson, C.L., Rocca, W.A., Hanson, V.A., Cha, R., Kokmen, E., O'Brien, P.C., and Palumbo, P.J. (1997). Risk of dementia among persons with diabetes mellitus: a population-based cohort study. Am J Epidemiol 145, 301-308.
- Leinninger, G.M., Backus, C., Sastry, A.M., Yi, Y.B., Wang, C.W., and Feldman, E.L. (2006). Mitochondria in DRG neurons undergo hyperglycemic mediated injury through Bim, Bax and the fission protein Drp1. Neurobiol Dis 23, 11-22.
- Lesne, S., Koh, M.T., Kotilinek, L., Kayed, R., Glabe, C.G., Yang, A., Gallagher, M., and Ashe, K.H. (2006). A specific amyloid-beta protein assembly in the brain impairs memory. Nature 440, 352-357.
- Levy-Lahad, E., Wasco, W., Poorkaj, P., Romano, D.M., Oshima, J., Pettingell, W.H., Yu, C.E., Jondro, P.D., Schmidt, S.D., Wang, K., et al. (1995). Candidate gene for the chromosome 1 familial Alzheimer's disease locus. Science 269, 973-977.
- Leyssen, M., Ayaz, D., Hebert, S.S., Reeve, S., De Strooper, B., and Hassan, B.A. (2005). Amyloid precursor protein promotes post-developmental neurite arborization in the Drosophila brain. EMBO J 24, 2944-2955.
- Li, Q., and Sudhof, T.C. (2004). Cleavage of amyloid-beta precursor protein and amyloid-beta precursor-like protein by BACE 1. J Biol Chem 279, 10542-10550.
- Li, Y., Zhou, W., Tong, Y., He, G., and Song, W. (2006). Control of APP processing and Abeta generation level by BACE1 enzymatic activity and transcription. FASEB J 20, 285-292.
- Lichtenthaler, S.F., Dominguez, D.I., Westmeyer, G.G., Reiss, K., Haass, C., Saftig, P., De Strooper, B., and Seed, B. (2003). The cell adhesion protein P-selectin glycoprotein ligand-1 is a substrate for the aspartyl protease BACE1. J Biol Chem 278, 48713-48719.
- Liu, K., Solano, I., Mann, D., Lemere, C., Mercken, M., Trojanowski, J.Q., and Lee, V.M. (2006). Characterization of Abeta11-40/42 peptide deposition in Alzheimer's disease and young Down's syndrome

brains: implication of N-terminally truncated Abeta species in the pathogenesis of Alzheimer's disease. Acta Neuropathol 112, 163-174.

- Lovell, M.A., and Markesbery, W.R. (2001). Ratio of 8-hydroxyguanine in intact DNA to free 8-hydroxyguanine is increased in Alzheimer disease ventricular cerebrospinal fluid. Arch Neurol 58, 392-396.
- Luca, S., Yau, W.M., Leapman, R., and Tycko, R. (2007). Peptide conformation and supramolecular organization in amylin fibrils: constraints from solid-state NMR. Biochemistry 46, 13505-13522.
- Luchsinger, J.A., Reitz, C., Honig, L.S., Tang, M.X., Shea, S., and Mayeux, R. (2005). Aggregation of vascular risk factors and risk of incident Alzheimer disease. Neurology 65, 545-551.
- Lue, L.F., Kuo, Y.M., Roher, A.E., Brachova, L., Shen, Y., Sue, L., Beach, T., Kurth, J.H., Rydel, R.E., and Rogers, J. (1999). Soluble amyloid beta peptide concentration as a predictor of synaptic change in Alzheimer's disease. Am J Pathol 155, 853-862.
- Luo, Y., Bolon, B., Kahn, S., Bennett, B.D., Babu-Khan, S., Denis, P., Fan, W., Kha, H., Zhang, J., Gong, Y., et al. (2001). Mice deficient in BACE1, the Alzheimer's beta-secretase, have normal phenotype and abolished beta-amyloid generation. Nat Neurosci 4, 231-232.
- Lustbader, J.W., Cirilli, M., Lin, C., Xu, H.W., Takuma, K., Wang, N., Caspersen, C., Chen, X., Pollak, S., Chaney, M., et al. (2004). ABAD directly links Abeta to mitochondrial toxicity in Alzheimer's disease. Science 304, 448-452.
- Ma, G., Li, T., Price, D.L., and Wong, P.C. (2005). APH-1a is the principal mammalian APH-1 isoform present in gamma-secretase complexes during embryonic development. J Neurosci 25, 192-198.
- MacKnight, C., Rockwood, K., Awalt, E., and McDowell, I. (2002). Diabetes mellitus and the risk of dementia, Alzheimer's disease and vascular cognitive impairment in the Canadian Study of Health and Aging. Dement Geriatr Cogn Disord 14, 77-83.
- Magistretti, P.J. (1999). Brain energy metabolism. (In) Fundamental neuroscience pp. 389-413.
- Maher, F., and Simpson, I.A. (1994). Modulation of expression of glucose transporters GLUT3 and GLUT1 by potassium and N-methyl-D-aspartate in cultured cerebellar granule neurons. Mol Cell Neurosci 5, 369-375.
- Maher, F., Simpson, I.A., and Vannucci, S.J. (1993a). Alterations in brain glucose transporter proteins, GLUT1 and GLUT3, in streptozotocin diabetic rats. Adv Exp Med Biol 331, 9-12.
- Maher, F., Vannucci, S.J., and Simpson, I.A. (1993b). Glucose transporter isoforms in brain: absence of GLUT3 from the blood-brain barrier. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab 13, 342-345.
- Majocha, R.E., Agrawal, S., Tang, J.Y., Humke, E.W., and Marotta, C.A. (1994). Modulation of the PC12 cell response to nerve growth factor by antisense oligonucleotide to amyloid precursor protein. Cell Mol Neurobiol 14, 425-437.
- Mann, D.M. (1988a). Alzheimer's disease and Down's syndrome. Histopathology 13, 125-137.
- Mann, D.M. (1988b). The pathological association between Down syndrome and Alzheimer disease. Mech Ageing Dev 43, 99-136.
- Mann, D.M., Yates, P.O., and Marcyniuk, B. (1985). Some morphometric observations on the cerebral cortex and hippocampus in presenile Alzheimer's disease, senile dementia of Alzheimer type and Down's syndrome in middle age. J Neurol Sci 69, 139-159.
- Manschot, S.M., Brands, A.M., van der Grond, J., Kessels, R.P., Algra, A., Kappelle, L.J., and Biessels, G.J.

(2006). Brain magnetic resonance imaging correlates of impaired cognition in patients with type 2 diabetes. Diabetes 55, 1106-1113.

- Maretzky, T., Reiss, K., Ludwig, A., Buchholz, J., Scholz, F., Proksch, E., de Strooper, B., Hartmann, D., and Saftig, P. (2005). ADAM10 mediates E-cadherin shedding and regulates epithelial cell-cell adhesion, migration, and beta-catenin translocation. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 102, 9182-9187.
- Martin-Morris, L.E., and White, K. (1990). The Drosophila transcript encoded by the beta-amyloid protein precursor-like gene is restricted to the nervous system. Development 110, 185-195.
- Masters, C.L., Simms, G., Weinman, N.A., Multhaup, G., McDonald, B.L., and Beyreuther, K. (1985). Amyloid plaque core protein in Alzheimer disease and Down syndrome. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 82, 4245-4249.
- Mastrangelo, P., Mathews, P.M., Chishti, M.A., Schmidt, S.D., Gu, Y., Yang, J., Mazzella, M.J., Coomaraswamy, J., Horne, P., Strome, B., et al. (2005). Dissociated phenotypes in presenilin transgenic mice define functionally distinct gamma-secretases. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 102, 8972-8977.
- McConlogue, L., Buttini, M., Anderson, J.P., Brigham, E.F., Chen, K.S., Freedman, S.B., Games, D., Johnson-Wood, K., Lee, M., Zeller, M., et al. (2007). Partial reduction of BACE1 has dramatic effects on Alzheimer plaque and synaptic pathology in APP Transgenic Mice. J Biol Chem 282, 26326-26334.
- McFarlane, I., Georgopoulou, N., Coughlan, C.M., Gillian, A.M., and Breen, K.C. (1999). The role of the protein glycosylation state in the control of cellular transport of the amyloid β precursor protein. Neuroscience 90, 15-25.
- McKhann, G., Drachman, D., Folstein, M., Katzman, R., Price, D., and Stadlan, E.M. (1984). Clinical diagnosis of Alzheimer's disease: report of the NINCDS-ADRDA Work Group under the auspices of Department of Health and Human Services Task Force on Alzheimer's Disease. Neurology 34, 939-944.
- McLean, C.A., Cherny, R.A., Fraser, F.W., Fuller, S.J., Smith, M.J., Beyreuther, K., Bush, A.I., and Masters, C.L. (1999). Soluble pool of Abeta amyloid as a determinant of severity of neurodegeneration in Alzheimer's disease. Ann Neurol 46, 860-866.
- Meneilly, G.S., and Hill, A. (1993). Alterations in glucose metabolism in patients with Alzheimer's disease. J Am Geriatr Soc 41, 710-714.
- Merriman-Smith, B.R., Krushinsky, A., Kistler, J., and Donaldson, P.J. (2003). Expression patterns for glucose transporters GLUT1 and GLUT3 in the normal rat lens and in models of diabetic cataract. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 44, 3458-3466.
- Metzger, B.E., Buchanan, T.A., Coustan, D.R., de Leiva, A., Dunger, D.B., Hadden, D.R., Hod, M., Kitzmiller, J.L., Kjos, S.L., Oats, J.N., et al. (2007). Summary and recommendations of the Fifth International Workshop-Conference on Gestational Diabetes Mellitus. Diabetes Care 30 Suppl 2, S251-260.
- Miles Wr, R.H. (1922). PSychologic tests applied to diabetic patients. Archives of Internal Medicine 30, 767-777.
- Milward, E.A., Papadopoulos, R., Fuller, S.J., Moir, R.D., Small, D., Beyreuther, K., and Masters, C.L. (1992). The amyloid protein precursor of Alzheimer's disease is a mediator of the effects of nerve growth factor on neurite outgrowth. Neuron 9, 129-137.
- Miyakawa, T., Katsuragi, S., Watanabe, K., Shimoji, A., and Ikeuchi, Y. (1986). Ultrastructural studies of amyloid fibrils and senile plaques in human brain. Acta Neuropathol 70, 202-208.
- Mobley, W.C., Neve, R.L., Prusiner, S.B., and McKinley, M.P. (1988). Nerve growth factor increases mRNA

levels for the prion protein and the beta-amyloid protein precursor in developing hamster brain. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 85, 9811-9815.

- Mooradian, A.D. (2009). Dyslipidemia in type 2 diabetes mellitus. Nat Clin Pract Endocrinol Metab 5, 150-159.
- Morawe, T., Hiebel, C., Kern, A., and Behl, C. (2012). Protein homeostasis, aging and Alzheimer's disease. Mol Neurobiol 46, 41-54.
- Moreira, P.I., Carvalho, C., Zhu, X., Smith, M.A., and Perry, G. (2010). Mitochondrial dysfunction is a trigger of Alzheimer's disease pathophysiology. Biochim Biophys Acta 1802, 2-10.
- Moreira, P.I., Santos, M.S., Seica, R., and Oliveira, C.R. (2007). Brain mitochondrial dysfunction as a link between Alzheimer's disease and diabetes. J Neurol Sci 257, 206-214.
- Mosconi, L., De Santi, S., Li, J., Tsui, W.H., Li, Y., Boppana, M., Laska, E., Rusinek, H., and de Leon, M.J. (2008). Hippocampal hypometabolism predicts cognitive decline from normal aging. Neurobiol Aging 29, 676-692.
- Mueckler, M., Caruso, C., Baldwin, S.A., Panico, M., Blench, I., Morris, H.R., Allard, W.J., Lienhard, G.E., and Lodish, H.F. (1985). Sequence and structure of a human glucose transporter. Science 229, 941-945.
- Mullarkey, C.J., Edelstein, D., and Brownlee, M. (1990). Free radical generation by early glycation products: a mechanism for accelerated atherogenesis in diabetes. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 173, 932-939.
- Murakami, N., Yamaki, T., Iwamoto, Y., Sakakibara, T., Kobori, N., Fushiki, S., and Ueda, S. (1998). Experimental brain injury induces expression of amyloid precursor protein, which may be related to neuronal loss in the hippocampus. J Neurotrauma 15, 993-1003.
- Nagamatsu, S., Kornhauser, J.M., Burant, C.F., Seino, S., Mayo, K.E., and Bell, G.I. (1992). Glucose transporter expression in brain. cDNA sequence of mouse GLUT3, the brain facilitative glucose transporter isoform, and identification of sites of expression by in situ hybridization. J Biol Chem 267, 467-472.
- Needham, B.E., Wlodek, M.E., Ciccotosto, G.D., Fam, B.C., Masters, C.L., Proietto, J., Andrikopoulos, S., and Cappai, R. (2008). Identification of the Alzheimer's disease amyloid precursor protein (APP) and its homologue APLP2 as essential modulators of glucose and insulin homeostasis and growth. J Pathol 215, 155-163.
- Neve, R.L., Finch, E.A., and Dawes, L.R. (1988). Expression of the Alzheimer amyloid precursor gene transcripts in the human brain. Neuron 1, 669-677.
- Nikolaev, A., McLaughlin, T., O'Leary, D.D., and Tessier-Lavigne, M. (2009). APP binds DR6 to trigger axon pruning and neuron death via distinct caspases. Nature 457, 981-989.
- Nomura, S., Komiyama, Y., Miyake, T., Miyazaki, Y., Kido, H., Suzuki, M., Kagawa, H., Yanabu, M., Takahashi, H., and Fukuhara, S. (1994). Amyloid beta-protein precursor-rich platelet microparticles in thrombotic disease. Thromb Haemost 72, 519-522.
- Nunomura, A., Perry, G., Pappolla, M.A., Wade, R., Hirai, K., Chiba, S., and Smith, M.A. (1999). RNA oxidation is a prominent feature of vulnerable neurons in Alzheimer's disease. J Neurosci 19, 1959-1964.
- Oda, A., Tamaoka, A., and Araki, W. (2010). Oxidative stress up-regulates presenilin 1 in lipid rafts in neuronal cells. J Neurosci Res 88, 1137-1145.
- Oh, E.S., Savonenko, A.V., King, J.F., Fangmark Tucker, S.M., Rudow, G.L., Xu, G., Borchelt, D.R., and Troncoso, J.C. (2009). Amyloid precursor protein increases cortical neuron size in transgenic mice.
Neurobiol Aging 30, 1238-1244.

- Ohno, M., Sametsky, E.A., Younkin, L.H., Oakley, H., Younkin, S.G., Citron, M., Vassar, R., and Disterhoft, J.F. (2004). BACE1 deficiency rescues memory deficits and cholinergic dysfunction in a mouse model of Alzheimer's disease. Neuron 41, 27-33.
- Osenkowski, P., Li, H., Ye, W., Li, D., Aeschbach, L., Fraering, P.C., Wolfe, M.S., and Selkoe, D.J. (2009). Cryoelectron microscopy structure of purified gamma-secretase at 12 A resolution. J Mol Biol 385, 642-652.
- Ott, A., Stolk, R.P., van Harskamp, F., Pols, H.A., Hofman, A., and Breteler, M.M. (1999). Diabetes mellitus and the risk of dementia: The Rotterdam Study. Neurology 53, 1937-1942.
- Pastorino, L., Ikin, A.F., Lamprianou, S., Vacaresse, N., Revelli, J.P., Platt, K., Paganetti, P., Mathews, P.M., Harroch, S., and Buxbaum, J.D. (2004). BACE (beta-secretase) modulates the processing of APLP2 in vivo. Mol Cell Neurosci 25, 642-649.
- Peila, R., Rodriguez, B.L., and Launer, L.J. (2002). Type 2 diabetes, APOE gene, and the risk for dementia and related pathologies: The Honolulu-Asia Aging Study. Diabetes 51, 1256-1262.
- Perez, R.G., Zheng, H., Van der Ploeg, L.H., and Koo, E.H. (1997). The beta-amyloid precursor protein of Alzheimer's disease enhances neuron viability and modulates neuronal polarity. J Neurosci 17, 9407-9414.
- Perlmuter, L.C., Hakami, M.K., Hodgson-Harrington, C., Ginsberg, J., Katz, J., Singer, D.E., and Nathan, D.M. (1984). Decreased cognitive function in aging non-insulin-dependent diabetic patients. Am J Med 77, 1043-1048.
- Perrin, R.J., Fagan, A.M., and Holtzman, D.M. (2009). Multimodal techniques for diagnosis and prognosis of Alzheimer's disease. Nature 461, 916-922.
- Peschon, J.J., Slack, J.L., Reddy, P., Stocking, K.L., Sunnarborg, S.W., Lee, D.C., Russell, W.E., Castner, B.J., Johnson, R.S., Fitzner, J.N., et al. (1998). An essential role for ectodomain shedding in mammalian development. Science 282, 1281-1284.
- Pike, K.E., Savage, G., Villemagne, V.L., Ng, S., Moss, S.A., Maruff, P., Mathis, C.A., Klunk, W.E., Masters, C.L., and Rowe, C.C. (2007). Beta-amyloid imaging and memory in non-demented individuals: evidence for preclinical Alzheimer's disease. Brain 130, 2837-2844.
- Pollwein, P., Masters, C.L., and Beyreuther, K. (1992). The expression of the amyloid precursor protein (APP) is regulated by two GC-elements in the promoter. Nucleic Acids Res 20, 63-68.
- Ponte, P., Gonzalez-DeWhitt, P., Schilling, J., Miller, J., Hsu, D., Greenberg, B., Davis, K., Wallace, W., Lieberburg, I., and Fuller, F. (1988). A new A4 amyloid mRNA contains a domain homologous to serine proteinase inhibitors. Nature 331, 525-527.
- Postina, R., Schroeder, A., Dewachter, I., Bohl, J., Schmitt, U., Kojro, E., Prinzen, C., Endres, K., Hiemke, C., Blessing, M., et al. (2004). A disintegrin-metalloproteinase prevents amyloid plaque formation and hippocampal defects in an Alzheimer disease mouse model. J Clin Invest 113, 1456-1464.
- Prasher, V.P., Farrer, M.J., Kessling, A.M., Fisher, E.M., West, R.J., Barber, P.C., and Butler, A.C. (1998). Molecular mapping of Alzheimer-type dementia in Down's syndrome. Ann Neurol 43, 380-383.
- Preece, P., Virley, D.J., Costandi, M., Coombes, R., Moss, S.J., Mudge, A.W., Jazin, E., and Cairns, N.J. (2004). Amyloid precursor protein mRNA levels in Alzheimer's disease brain. Brain Res Mol Brain Res 122, 1-9.

- Price, J.L., Ko, A.I., Wade, M.J., Tsou, S.K., McKeel, D.W., and Morris, J.C. (2001). Neuron number in the entorhinal cortex and CA1 in preclinical Alzheimer disease. Arch Neurol 58, 1395-1402.
- Qing, H., Zhou, W., Christensen, M.A., Sun, X., Tong, Y., and Song, W. (2004). Degradation of BACE by the ubiquitin-proteasome pathway. FASEB J 18, 1571-1573.
- Qiu, W.Q., Ferreira, A., Miller, C., Koo, E.H., and Selkoe, D.J. (1995). Cell-surface beta-amyloid precursor protein stimulates neurite outgrowth of hippocampal neurons in an isoform-dependent manner. J Neurosci 15, 2157-2167.
- Quiroz-Baez, R., Rojas, E., and Arias, C. (2009). Oxidative stress promotes JNK-dependent amyloidogenic processing of normally expressed human APP by differential modification of alpha-, beta- and gamma-secretase expression. Neurochem Int 55, 662-670.
- Quitschke, W.W., and Goldgaber, D. (1992). The amyloid beta-protein precursor promoter. A region essential for transcriptional activity contains a nuclear factor binding domain. J Biol Chem 267, 17362-17368.
- Rajapaksha, T.W., Eimer, W.A., Bozza, T.C., and Vassar, R. (2011). The Alzheimer's beta-secretase enzyme BACE1 is required for accurate axon guidance of olfactory sensory neurons and normal glomerulus formation in the olfactory bulb. Mol Neurodegener 6, 88.
- Razay G, V.A.W.G. (2007). The metabolic syndrome and alzheimer disease. Archives of Neurology 64, 93-96.
- Reinstrup, P., Stahl, N., Mellergard, P., Uski, T., Ungerstedt, U., and Nordstrom, C.H. (2000). Intracerebral microdialysis in clinical practice: baseline values for chemical markers during wakefulness, anesthesia, and neurosurgery. Neurosurgery 47, 701-709; discussion 709-710.
- Reiss, K., Maretzky, T., Ludwig, A., Tousseyn, T., de Strooper, B., Hartmann, D., and Saftig, P. (2005). ADAM10 cleavage of N-cadherin and regulation of cell-cell adhesion and beta-catenin nuclear signalling. EMBO J 24, 742-752.
- Reitz, C., Brayne, C., and Mayeux, R. (2011). Epidemiology of Alzheimer disease. Nat Rev Neurol 7, 137-152.
- Ring, S., Weyer, S.W., Kilian, S.B., Waldron, E., Pietrzik, C.U., Filippov, M.A., Herms, J., Buchholz, C., Eckman, C.B., Korte, M., et al. (2007). The secreted beta-amyloid precursor protein ectodomain APPs alpha is sufficient to rescue the anatomical, behavioral, and electrophysiological abnormalities of APP-deficient mice. J Neurosci 27, 7817-7826.
- Robakis, N.K., Ramakrishna, N., Wolfe, G., and Wisniewski, H.M. (1987). Molecular cloning and characterization of a cDNA encoding the cerebrovascular and the neuritic plaque amyloid peptides. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 84, 4190-4194.
- Roberds, S.L., Anderson, J., Basi, G., Bienkowski, M.J., Branstetter, D.G., Chen, K.S., Freedman, S.B., Frigon, N.L., Games, D., Hu, K., et al. (2001). BACE knockout mice are healthy despite lacking the primary beta-secretase activity in brain: implications for Alzheimer's disease therapeutics. Hum Mol Genet 10, 1317-1324.
- Rocca, W.A., Hofman, A., Brayne, C., Breteler, M.M., Clarke, M., Copeland, J.R., Dartigues, J.F., Engedal, K., Hagnell, O., Heeren, T.J., et al. (1991). Frequency and distribution of Alzheimer's disease in Europe: a collaborative study of 1980-1990 prevalence findings. The EURODEM-Prevalence Research Group. Ann Neurol 30, 381-390.
- Rodrigue, K.M., and Raz, N. (2004). Shrinkage of the entorhinal cortex over five years predicts memory performance in healthy adults. J Neurosci 24, 956-963.

- Rogaev, E.I., Sherrington, R., Rogaeva, E.A., Levesque, G., Ikeda, M., Liang, Y., Chi, H., Lin, C., Holman, K., Tsuda, T., et al. (1995). Familial Alzheimer's disease in kindreds with missense mutations in a gene on chromosome 1 related to the Alzheimer's disease type 3 gene. Nature 376, 775-778.
- Rolandsson, O., Backestrom, A., Eriksson, S., Hallmans, G., and Nilsson, L.G. (2008). Increased glucose levels are associated with episodic memory in nondiabetic women. Diabetes 57, 440-443.
- Rovelet-Lecrux, A., Hannequin, D., Raux, G., Le Meur, N., Laquerriere, A., Vital, A., Dumanchin, C., Feuillette, S., Brice, A., Vercelletto, M., et al. (2006). APP locus duplication causes autosomal dominant early-onset Alzheimer disease with cerebral amyloid angiopathy. Nat Genet 38, 24-26.
- Russell, J.W., Golovoy, D., Vincent, A.M., Mahendru, P., Olzmann, J.A., Mentzer, A., and Feldman, E.L. (2002). High glucose-induced oxidative stress and mitochondrial dysfunction in neurons. FASEB J 16, 1738-1748.
- Sabo, S.L., Ikin, A.F., Buxbaum, J.D., and Greengard, P. (2001). The Alzheimer amyloid precursor protein (APP) and FE65, an APP-binding protein, regulate cell movement. J Cell Biol 153, 1403-1414.
- Saitoh, T., Sundsmo, M., Roch, J.M., Kimura, N., Cole, G., Schubert, D., Oltersdorf, T., and Schenk, D.B. (1989). Secreted form of amyloid beta protein precursor is involved in the growth regulation of fibroblasts. Cell 58, 615-622.
- Salbaum, J.M., Weidemann, A., Lemaire, H.G., Masters, C.L., and Beyreuther, K. (1988). The promoter of Alzheimer's disease amyloid A4 precursor gene. EMBO J 7, 2807-2813.
- Sasaki, N., Toki, S., Chowei, H., Saito, T., Nakano, N., Hayashi, Y., Takeuchi, M., and Makita, Z. (2001). Immunohistochemical distribution of the receptor for advanced glycation end products in neurons and astrocytes in Alzheimer's disease. Brain Res 888, 256-262.
- Sato, T., Diehl, T.S., Narayanan, S., Funamoto, S., Ihara, Y., De Strooper, B., Steiner, H., Haass, C., and Wolfe, M.S. (2007). Active gamma-secretase complexes contain only one of each component. J Biol Chem 282, 33985-33993.
- Savonenko, A.V., Melnikova, T., Laird, F.M., Stewart, K.A., Price, D.L., and Wong, P.C. (2008). Alteration of BACE1-dependent NRG1/ErbB4 signaling and schizophrenia-like phenotypes in BACE1-null mice. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 105, 5585-5590.
- Savva, G.M., Wharton, S.B., Ince, P.G., Forster, G., Matthews, F.E., and Brayne, C. (2009). Age, neuropathology, and dementia. N Engl J Med 360, 2302-2309.
- Sayre, L.M., Zelasko, D.A., Harris, P.L., Perry, G., Salomon, R.G., and Smith, M.A. (1997). 4-Hydroxynonenal-derived advanced lipid peroxidation end products are increased in Alzheimer's disease. J Neurochem 68, 2092-2097.
- Scheepers, A., Joost, H.G., and Schurmann, A. (2004). The glucose transporter families SGLT and GLUT: molecular basis of normal and aberrant function. JPEN J Parenter Enteral Nutr 28, 364-371.
- Scheuner, D., Eckman, C., Jensen, M., Song, X., Citron, M., Suzuki, N., Bird, T.D., Hardy, J., Hutton, M., Kukull, W., et al. (1996). Secreted amyloid beta-protein similar to that in the senile plaques of Alzheimer's disease is increased in vivo by the presenilin 1 and 2 and APP mutations linked to familial Alzheimer's disease. Nat Med 2, 864-870.
- Schmitt, H.P. (2006). ε-Glycation, APP and Aβ in ageing and Alzheimer disease: A hypothesis. Medical Hypotheses 66, 898-906.
- Schottky, J. (1932). Uber prasenile Verblodungen. Gesamte NeurolPsych 140, 333–397.

- Schubert, W., Prior, R., Weidemann, A., Dircksen, H., Multhaup, G., Masters, C.L., and Beyreuther, K. (1991). Localization of Alzheimer beta A4 amyloid precursor protein at central and peripheral synaptic sites. Brain Res 563, 184-194.
- Searfoss, G.H., Jordan, W.H., Calligaro, D.O., Galbreath, E.J., Schirtzinger, L.M., Berridge, B.R., Gao, H., Higgins, M.A., May, P.C., and Ryan, T.P. (2003). Adipsin, a biomarker of gastrointestinal toxicity mediated by a functional gamma-secretase inhibitor. J Biol Chem 278, 46107-46116.
- Selkoe, D.J. (1991). The molecular pathology of Alzheimer's disease. Neuron 6, 487-498.
- Serneels, L., Dejaegere, T., Craessaerts, K., Horre, K., Jorissen, E., Tousseyn, T., Hebert, S., Coolen, M., Martens, G., Zwijsen, A., et al. (2005). Differential contribution of the three Aph1 genes to gamma-secretase activity in vivo. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 102, 1719-1724.
- Serneels, L., Van Biervliet, J., Craessaerts, K., Dejaegere, T., Horre, K., Van Houtvin, T., Esselmann, H., Paul, S., Schafer, M.K., Berezovska, O., et al. (2009). gamma-Secretase heterogeneity in the Aph1 subunit: relevance for Alzheimer's disease. Science 324, 639-642.
- Shankar, G.M., Li, S., Mehta, T.H., Garcia-Munoz, A., Shepardson, N.E., Smith, I., Brett, F.M., Farrell, M.A., Rowan, M.J., Lemere, C.A., et al. (2008). Amyloid-beta protein dimers isolated directly from Alzheimer's brains impair synaptic plasticity and memory. Nat Med 14, 837-842.
- Shepherd, P.R., Gould, G.W., Colville, C.A., McCoid, S.C., Gibbs, E.M., and Kahn, B.B. (1992). Distribution of GLUT3 glucose transporter protein in human tissues. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 188, 149-154.
- Sherrington, R., Rogaev, E.I., Liang, Y., Rogaeva, E.A., Levesque, G., Ikeda, M., Chi, H., Lin, C., Li, G., Holman, K., et al. (1995). Cloning of a gene bearing missense mutations in early-onset familial Alzheimer's disease. Nature 375, 754-760.
- Shi, X.P., Chen, E., Yin, K.C., Na, S., Garsky, V.M., Lai, M.T., Li, Y.M., Platchek, M., Register, R.B., Sardana, M.K., et al. (2001). The pro domain of beta-secretase does not confer strict zymogen-like properties but does assist proper folding of the protease domain. J Biol Chem 276, 10366-10373.
- Shigematsu, K., McGeer, P.L., and McGeer, E.G. (1992). Localization of amyloid precursor protein in selective postsynaptic densities of rat cortical neurons. Brain Res 592, 353-357.
- Shirotani, K., Edbauer, D., Prokop, S., Haass, C., and Steiner, H. (2004). Identification of distinct gamma-secretase complexes with different APH-1 variants. J Biol Chem 279, 41340-41345.
- Sies, H. (1985). Oxidative stress. Academic Press, London.
- Silver, I.A., and Erecinska, M. (1994). Extracellular glucose concentration in mammalian brain: continuous monitoring of changes during increased neuronal activity and upon limitation in oxygen supply in normo-, hypo-, and hyperglycemic animals. J Neurosci 14, 5068-5076.
- Sims-Robinson, C., Kim, B., Rosko, A., and Feldman, E.L. (2010). How does diabetes accelerate Alzheimer disease pathology? Nat Rev Neurol 6, 551-559.
- Sinha, S., Anderson, J.P., Barbour, R., Basi, G.S., Caccavello, R., Davis, D., Doan, M., Dovey, H.F., Frigon, N., Hong, J., et al. (1999). Purification and cloning of amyloid precursor protein beta-secretase from human brain. Nature 402, 537-540.
- Sisodia, S.S., Koo, E.H., Beyreuther, K., Unterbeck, A., and Price, D.L. (1990). Evidence that beta-amyloid protein in Alzheimer's disease is not derived by normal processing. Science 248, 492-495.
- Slomnicki, L.P., and Lesniak, W. (2008). A putative role of the Amyloid Precursor Protein Intracellular Domain (AICD) in transcription. Acta Neurobiol Exp (Wars) 68, 219-228.

- Soba, P., Eggert, S., Wagner, K., Zentgraf, H., Siehl, K., Kreger, S., Lower, A., Langer, A., Merdes, G., Paro, R., et al. (2005). Homo- and heterodimerization of APP family members promotes intercellular adhesion. EMBO J 24, 3624-3634.
- Song, W., Nadeau, P., Yuan, M., Yang, X., Shen, J., and Yankner, B.A. (1999). Proteolytic release and nuclear translocation of Notch-1 are induced by presenilin-1 and impaired by pathogenic presenilin-1 mutations. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 96, 6959-6963.
- Srikanth, V., Maczurek, A., Phan, T., Steele, M., Westcott, B., Juskiw, D., and Munch, G. (2011). Advanced glycation endproducts and their receptor RAGE in Alzheimer's disease. Neurobiol Aging 32, 763-777.
- Steiner, H., Winkler, E., Edbauer, D., Prokop, S., Basset, G., Yamasaki, A., Kostka, M., and Haass, C. (2002). PEN-2 is an integral component of the gamma-secretase complex required for coordinated expression of presenilin and nicastrin. J Biol Chem 277, 39062-39065.
- Stewart, R., and Liolitsa, D. (1999). Type 2 diabetes mellitus, cognitive impairment and dementia. Diabetic Medicine 16, 93-112.
- Stieren, E.S., El Ayadi, A., Xiao, Y., Siller, E., Landsverk, M.L., Oberhauser, A.F., Barral, J.M., and Boehning, D. (2011). Ubiquilin-1 is a molecular chaperone for the amyloid precursor protein. J Biol Chem 286, 35689-35698.
- Strachan, M.W., Deary, I.J., Ewing, F.M., and Frier, B.M. (1997). Is type II diabetes associated with an increased risk of cognitive dysfunction? A critical review of published studies. Diabetes Care 20, 438-445.
- Struhl, G., and Greenwald, I. (1999). Presenilin is required for activity and nuclear access of Notch in Drosophila. Nature 398, 522-525.
- Sun, X., Bromley-Brits, K., and Song, W. (2012). Regulation of beta-site APP-cleaving enzyme 1 gene expression and its role in Alzheimer's disease. J Neurochem 120 Suppl 1, 62-70.
- Suzuki, N., Cheung, T.T., Cai, X.D., Odaka, A., Otvos, L., Jr., Eckman, C., Golde, T.E., and Younkin, S.G. (1994). An increased percentage of long amyloid beta protein secreted by familial amyloid beta protein precursor (beta APP717) mutants. Science 264, 1336-1340.
- Suzuki, T., Araki, Y., Yamamoto, T., and Nakaya, T. (2006). Trafficking of Alzheimer's disease-related membrane proteins and its participation in disease pathogenesis. J Biochem 139, 949-955.
- Takahashi, Y., Hayashi, I., Tominari, Y., Rikimaru, K., Morohashi, Y., Kan, T., Natsugari, H., Fukuyama, T., Tomita, T., and Iwatsubo, T. (2003). Sulindac sulfide is a noncompetitive gamma-secretase inhibitor that preferentially reduces Abeta 42 generation. J Biol Chem 278, 18664-18670.
- Takasugi, N., Tomita, T., Hayashi, I., Tsuruoka, M., Niimura, M., Takahashi, Y., Thinakaran, G., and Iwatsubo, T. (2003). The role of presenilin cofactors in the gamma-secretase complex. Nature 422, 438-441.
- Takeda, S., Sato, N., Uchio-Yamada, K., Sawada, K., Kunieda, T., Takeuchi, D., Kurinami, H., Shinohara, M., Rakugi, H., and Morishita, R. (2010). Diabetes-accelerated memory dysfunction via cerebrovascular inflammation and Abeta deposition in an Alzheimer mouse model with diabetes. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 107, 7036-7041.
- Tamagno, E., Guglielmotto, M., Aragno, M., Borghi, R., Autelli, R., Giliberto, L., Muraca, G., Danni, O., Zhu, X., Smith, M.A., et al. (2008). Oxidative stress activates a positive feedback between the gamma- and beta-secretase cleavages of the beta-amyloid precursor protein. J Neurochem 104, 683-695.
- Tanzi, R.E., Gusella, J.F., Watkins, P.C., Bruns, G.A., St George-Hyslop, P., Van Keuren, M.L., Patterson, D.,

Pagan, S., Kurnit, D.M., and Neve, R.L. (1987). Amyloid beta protein gene: cDNA, mRNA distribution, and genetic linkage near the Alzheimer locus. Science 235, 880-884.

- Tanzi, R.E., McClatchey, A.I., Lamperti, E.D., Villa-Komaroff, L., Gusella, J.F., and Neve, R.L. (1988). Protease inhibitor domain encoded by an amyloid protein precursor mRNA associated with Alzheimer's disease. Nature 331, 528-530.
- Terry, R.D., Gonatas, N.K., and Weiss, M. (1964). Ultrastructural studies in Alzheimer's presenile dementia. Am J Pathol 44, 269-297.
- Thathiah, A., Spittaels, K., Hoffmann, M., Staes, M., Cohen, A., Horre, K., Vanbrabant, M., Coun, F., Baekelandt, V., Delacourte, A., et al. (2009). The orphan G protein-coupled receptor 3 modulates amyloid-beta peptide generation in neurons. Science 323, 946-951.
- Tienari, P.J., De Strooper, B., Ikonen, E., Simons, M., Weidemann, A., Czech, C., Hartmann, T., Ida, N., Multhaup, G., Masters, C.L., et al. (1996). The beta-amyloid domain is essential for axonal sorting of amyloid precursor protein. EMBO J 15, 5218-5229.
- Tippmann, F., Hundt, J., Schneider, A., Endres, K., and Fahrenholz, F. (2009). Up-regulation of the alpha-secretase ADAM10 by retinoic acid receptors and acitretin. FASEB J 23, 1643-1654.
- Tomimoto, H., Akiguchi, I., Wakita, H., Nakamura, S., and Kimura, J. (1995). Ultrastructural localization of amyloid protein precursor in the normal and postischemic gerbil brain. Brain Res 672, 187-195.
- Tong, Y., Zhou, W., Fung, V., Christensen, M.A., Qing, H., Sun, X., and Song, W. (2005). Oxidative stress potentiates BACE1 gene expression and Abeta generation. J Neural Transm 112, 455-469.
- Townsend, M., Shankar, G.M., Mehta, T., Walsh, D.M., and Selkoe, D.J. (2006). Effects of secreted oligomers of amyloid beta-protein on hippocampal synaptic plasticity: a potent role for trimers. J Physiol 572, 477-492.
- Turner, P.R., O'Connor, K., Tate, W.P., and Abraham, W.C. (2003). Roles of amyloid precursor protein and its fragments in regulating neural activity, plasticity and memory. Prog Neurobiol 70, 1-32.
- Van Bogaert, L., and Maert, M. De Smedt (1940). Sur les formes familiares precoces de la maladie d'Alzheimer. Monatschr Psychiatrie 102, 249.
- Van den Heuvel, C., Blumbergs, P.C., Finnie, J.W., Manavis, J., Jones, N.R., Reilly, P.L., and Pereira, R.A. (1999). Upregulation of amyloid precursor protein messenger RNA in response to traumatic brain injury: an ovine head impact model. Exp Neurol 159, 441-450.
- van Es, J.H., van Gijn, M.E., Riccio, O., van den Born, M., Vooijs, M., Begthel, H., Cozijnsen, M., Robine, S., Winton, D.J., Radtke, F., et al. (2005). Notch/gamma-secretase inhibition turns proliferative cells in intestinal crypts and adenomas into goblet cells. Nature 435, 959-963.
- Vannucci, S.J., Maher, F., Koehler, E., and Simpson, I.A. (1994). Altered expression of GLUT-1 and GLUT-3 glucose transporters in neurohypophysis of water-deprived or diabetic rats. Am J Physiol 267, E605-611.
- Vannucci, S.J., Maher, F., and Simpson, I.A. (1997). Glucose transporter proteins in brain: delivery of glucose to neurons and glia. Glia 21, 2-21.
- Vassar, R., Bennett, B.D., Babu-Khan, S., Kahn, S., Mendiaz, E.A., Denis, P., Teplow, D.B., Ross, S., Amarante, P., Loeloff, R., et al. (1999). Beta-secretase cleavage of Alzheimer's amyloid precursor protein by the transmembrane aspartic protease BACE. Science 286, 735-741.
- Vincent, A.M., Russell, J.W., Low, P., and Feldman, E.L. (2004). Oxidative stress in the pathogenesis of diabetic neuropathy. Endocr Rev 25, 612-628.

- Vitek, M.P., Bhattacharya, K., Glendening, J.M., Stopa, E., Vlassara, H., Bucala, R., Manogue, K., and Cerami, A. (1994). Advanced glycation end products contribute to amyloidosis in Alzheimer disease. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 91, 4766-4770.
- von Arnim, C.A., Kinoshita, A., Peltan, I.D., Tangredi, M.M., Herl, L., Lee, B.M., Spoelgen, R., Hshieh, T.T., Ranganathan, S., Battey, F.D., et al. (2005). The low density lipoprotein receptor-related protein (LRP) is a novel beta-secretase (BACE1) substrate. J Biol Chem 280, 17777-17785.
- Wakabayashi, T., Craessaerts, K., Bammens, L., Bentahir, M., Borgions, F., Herdewijn, P., Staes, A., Timmerman, E., Vandekerckhove, J., Rubinstein, E., et al. (2009). Analysis of the gamma-secretase interactome and validation of its association with tetraspanin-enriched microdomains. Nat Cell Biol 11, 1340-1346.
- Wakabayashi, T., and De Strooper, B. (2008). Presenilins: members of the gamma-secretase quartets, but part-time soloists too. Physiology (Bethesda) 23, 194-204.
- Walsh, D.M., Klyubin, I., Fadeeva, J.V., Cullen, W.K., Anwyl, R., Wolfe, M.S., Rowan, M.J., and Selkoe, D.J. (2002). Naturally secreted oligomers of amyloid beta protein potently inhibit hippocampal long-term potentiation in vivo. Nature 416, 535-539.
- Walter, J., Fluhrer, R., Hartung, B., Willem, M., Kaether, C., Capell, A., Lammich, S., Multhaup, G., and Haass, C. (2001). Phosphorylation regulates intracellular trafficking of beta-secretase. J Biol Chem 276, 14634-14641.
- Wang, P., Yang, G., Mosier, D.R., Chang, P., Zaidi, T., Gong, Y.D., Zhao, N.M., Dominguez, B., Lee, K.F., Gan, W.B., et al. (2005). Defective neuromuscular synapses in mice lacking amyloid precursor protein (APP) and APP-Like protein 2. J Neurosci 25, 1219-1225.
- Weggen, S., Eriksen, J.L., Das, P., Sagi, S.A., Wang, R., Pietrzik, C.U., Findlay, K.A., Smith, T.E., Murphy, M.P., Bulter, T., et al. (2001). A subset of NSAIDs lower amyloidogenic Abeta42 independently of cyclooxygenase activity. Nature 414, 212-216.
- Weggen, S., Eriksen, J.L., Sagi, S.A., Pietrzik, C.U., Ozols, V., Fauq, A., Golde, T.E., and Koo, E.H. (2003). Evidence that nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs decrease amyloid beta 42 production by direct modulation of gamma-secretase activity. J Biol Chem 278, 31831-31837.
- Weidemann, A., Konig, G., Bunke, D., Fischer, P., Salbaum, J.M., Masters, C.L., and Beyreuther, K. (1989). Identification, biogenesis, and localization of precursors of Alzheimer's disease A4 amyloid protein. Cell 57, 115-126.
- West, M.J., Coleman, P.D., Flood, D.G., and Troncoso, J.C. (1994). Differences in the pattern of hippocampal neuronal loss in normal ageing and Alzheimer's disease. Lancet 344, 769-772.
- Westermark, P., Wernstedt, C., O'Brien, T.D., Hayden, D.W., and Johnson, K.H. (1987). Islet amyloid in type 2 human diabetes mellitus and adult diabetic cats contains a novel putative polypeptide hormone. Am J Pathol 127, 414-417.
- Whitehouse, P.J., Price, D.L., Struble, R.G., Clark, A.W., Coyle, J.T., and Delon, M.R. (1982). Alzheimer's disease and senile dementia: loss of neurons in the basal forebrain. Science 215, 1237-1239.
- WHO (2012). World Health Organization media centre: diabetes fact sheet updated in March 2013, available at http://www.who.int/mediacentre/factsheets/fs312/en/, retrieved on April 10, 2013
- Willem, M., Garratt, A.N., Novak, B., Citron, M., Kaufmann, S., Rittger, A., DeStrooper, B., Saftig, P., Birchmeier, C., and Haass, C. (2006). Control of peripheral nerve myelination by the beta-secretase

BACE1. Science 314, 664-666.

- Wimo, A., and Prince, M. (2010). World Alzheimer Report 2010: The Global Economic Impact of Dementia. Alzheimer's Disease International, London pp. 1–56.
- Wolfe, M.S., Xia, W., Ostaszewski, B.L., Diehl, T.S., Kimberly, W.T., and Selkoe, D.J. (1999). Two transmembrane aspartates in presenilin-1 required for presenilin endoproteolysis and gamma-secretase activity. Nature 398, 513-517.
- Wong, G.T., Manfra, D., Poulet, F.M., Zhang, Q., Josien, H., Bara, T., Engstrom, L., Pinzon-Ortiz, M., Fine, J.S., Lee, H.J., et al. (2004). Chronic treatment with the gamma-secretase inhibitor LY-411,575 inhibits beta-amyloid peptide production and alters lymphopoiesis and intestinal cell differentiation. J Biol Chem 279, 12876-12882.
- Wong, H.K., Sakurai, T., Oyama, F., Kaneko, K., Wada, K., Miyazaki, H., Kurosawa, M., De Strooper, B., Saftig, P., and Nukina, N. (2005). beta Subunits of voltage-gated sodium channels are novel substrates of beta-site amyloid precursor protein-cleaving enzyme (BACE1) and gamma-secretase. J Biol Chem 280, 23009-23017.
- Wood, J.G., Mirra, S.S., Pollock, N.J., and Binder, L.I. (1986). Neurofibrillary tangles of Alzheimer disease share antigenic determinants with the axonal microtubule-associated protein tau (tau). Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 83, 4040-4043.
- Wyss-Coray, T. (2006). Inflammation in Alzheimer disease: driving force, bystander or beneficial response? Nat Med 12, 1005-1015.
- Xu, W.L., Qiu, C.X., Wahlin, A., Winblad, B., and Fratiglioni, L. (2004). Diabetes mellitus and risk of dementia in the Kungsholmen project: a 6-year follow-up study. Neurology 63, 1181-1186.
- Yaffe, K., Weston, A.L., Blackwell, T., and Krueger, K.A. (2009). The metabolic syndrome and development of cognitive impairment among older women. Arch Neurol 66, 324-328.
- Yan, R., Bienkowski, M.J., Shuck, M.E., Miao, H., Tory, M.C., Pauley, A.M., Brashier, J.R., Stratman, N.C., Mathews, W.R., Buhl, A.E., et al. (1999). Membrane-anchored aspartyl protease with Alzheimer's disease beta-secretase activity. Nature 402, 533-537.
- Yang, G., Gong, Y.D., Gong, K., Jiang, W.L., Kwon, E., Wang, P., Zheng, H., Zhang, X.F., Gan, W.B., and Zhao, N.M. (2005). Reduced synaptic vesicle density and active zone size in mice lacking amyloid precursor protein (APP) and APP-like protein 2. Neurosci Lett 384, 66-71.
- Yang, Y., Quitschke, W.W., and Brewer, G.J. (1998a). Upregulation of amyloid precursor protein gene promoter in rat primary hippocampal neurons by phorbol ester, IL-1 and retinoic acid, but not by reactive oxygen species. Molecular Brain Research 60, 40-49.
- Yang, Y., Turner, R.S., and Gaut, J.R. (1998b). The chaperone BiP/GRP78 binds to amyloid precursor protein and decreases Abeta40 and Abeta42 secretion. J Biol Chem 273, 25552-25555.
- Yazaki, M., Tagawa, K., Maruyama, K., Sorimachi, H., Tsuchiya, T., Ishiura, S., and Suzuki, K. (1996). Mutation of potential N-linked glycosylation sites in the Alzheimer's disease amyloid precursor protein (APP). Neuroscience Letters 221, 57-60.
- Yoshikai, S.-i., Sasaki, H., Doh-ura, K., Furuya, H., and Sakaki, Y. (1990). Genomic organization of the human amyloid beta-protein precursor gene. Gene 87, 257-263.
- Yoshitake, T., Kiyohara, Y., Kato, I., Ohmura, T., Iwamoto, H., Nakayama, K., Ohmori, S., Nomiyama, K., Kawano, H., Ueda, K., et al. (1995). Incidence and risk factors of vascular dementia and Alzheimer's

disease in a defined elderly Japanese population: the Hisayama Study. Neurology 45, 1161-1168.

- Young-Pearse, T.L., Bai, J., Chang, R., Zheng, J.B., LoTurco, J.J., and Selkoe, D.J. (2007). A critical function for beta-amyloid precursor protein in neuronal migration revealed by in utero RNA interference. J Neurosci 27, 14459-14469.
- Yu, G., Nishimura, M., Arawaka, S., Levitan, D., Zhang, L., Tandon, A., Song, Y.Q., Rogaeva, E., Chen, F., Kawarai, T., et al. (2000). Nicastrin modulates presentilin-mediated notch/glp-1 signal transduction and betaAPP processing. Nature 407, 48-54.
- Yu, T., Sheu, S.S., Robotham, J.L., and Yoon, Y. (2008). Mitochondrial fission mediates high glucose-induced cell death through elevated production of reactive oxygen species. Cardiovasc Res 79, 341-351.
- Zhang, Z., Nadeau, P., Song, W., Donoviel, D., Yuan, M., Bernstein, A., and Yankner, B.A. (2000). Presenilins are required for gamma-secretase cleavage of beta-APP and transmembrane cleavage of Notch-1. Nat Cell Biol 2, 463-465.
- Zheng, H., Jiang, M., Trumbauer, M.E., Sirinathsinghji, D.J., Hopkins, R., Smith, D.W., Heavens, R.P., Dawson, G.R., Boyce, S., Conner, M.W., et al. (1995). beta-Amyloid precursor protein-deficient mice show reactive gliosis and decreased locomotor activity. Cell 81, 525-531.
- Zhou, W., and Song, W. (2006). Leaky scanning and reinitiation regulate BACE1 gene expression. Mol Cell Biol 26, 3353-3364.
- Zimmermann, K., Herget, T., Salbaum, J.M., Schubert, W., Hilbich, C., Cramer, M., Masters, C.L., Multhaup, G., Kang, J., Lemaire, H.G., et al. (1988). Localization of the putative precursor of Alzheimer's disease-specific amyloid at nuclear envelopes of adult human muscle. EMBO J 7, 367-372.